
PRELIMINARY AGENDA  
REGULAR SESSION 

CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
NORTH PLAINS SENIOR CENTER 

31450 NW Commercial Street 
Monday, December 16, 2013 – 7:00 P.M. 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER  
 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
3. ROLL CALL 
 
4. CONSENT AGENDA:  (The items on the Consent Agenda are normally 

considered in a single motion. Any item may be removed for separate 
consideration upon request by any member of the Council.) 

 
A. Approval of regular session agenda 

B. Approval of minutes of 12/02/2013 Council meeting 

5.  PUBLIC COMMENT: (Persons wishing to speak on matters not on the agenda may 
be recognized at this time.  Speakers must complete a “Public Comment 
Registration form” on the information table and return it to the City Recorder.  You 
are not required to give your address when speaking to the City Council, only your 
name.  Presentations are limited to five minutes.)   

 
6. PRESENTATION: 
 None Scheduled 
 
7. PUBLIC HEARING: 
 Requesting approval of an application by Jewitt-Cameron to consider a proposed 

street vacation of approximately 1100 linear feet of NW Hillcrest Street west of 319th 
Avenue. 

 
8. NEW BUSINESS: 

A. Approval of Resolution No.1809 declaring obsolete and non-functioning police 
equipment surplus. 

B. Review revenue and expenditures for Community Events and Activities 
C. Council to review November Check Register 

 
9. UNFINISHED BUSINESS: 

A. Consider the request for a BBQ Competition in early June. 
B. Discussion and approval of specific draft city policies from number 360-382 

(Copies of policies were distributed at the 9/16/13 Council meeting) 
 
10. ORDINANCES: 
 
 FIRST READING:   

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 1 of 75



Ordinance No. xxx – An ordinance of the City Council of the City of North Plains, 
Oregon, vacating a portion of Hillcrest Street west from 319th Street approximately 
1100 linear feet with the vacated area remaining subject to certain easements in 
favor of the City of North Plains, Portland General Electric and the Oregon 
Department of Transportation. 

 
SECOND READING: 
None Scheduled 

 
11. STAFF REPORTS 
 Staff reports will be provided by the City Manager, Public Works Director, Police 

Chief, and Library Director 
 
12. COUNCIL REPORTS 

A. Council reports will be provided by the Mayor and City Councilors on meetings 
attended and other items. 

 
B. January 2014 Council Calendar 
 

13. ADVICE/INFORMATION ITEMS: 
 Friday, January 17, 2014 at 7:00: William Stafford Event-An evening of 

Conversation, Wine and Poetry with Kim Stafford, emceed by Brian Doyle at St. 
Edward’s Parish Hall. 

 Saturday, January 18, 2014 North Plains Senior Center Crab and Steak Feed at 
3:00, 4:30 and 6:00 p.m. at Jessie Mays Community Hall. 

 Sunday, January 26 from 1:30-5:00: Playdate at Jessie Mays Community Hall 
 

14. ADJOURNMENT:  
 

***** 
North Plains City Council meetings are accessible for disabled individuals.  The City will 
also endeavor to provide services for persons with impaired hearing or vision and other 
services, if requested, at least 48 hours prior to the meeting.  To obtain services, please 
call City Hall at (503) 647-5555  

***** 
 

The following City Council Meetings will be scheduled to be held at the Jessie Mays 
Community Hall (the Senior Center is in the middle of a remodel). They will be held at 

30975 NW Commercial Street, North Plains, Oregon, on the following dates at 7:00 p.m.: 
 

Monday, January 6, 2014 Tuesday, January 21, 2014 Monday, February 3, 2014 
 

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 2 of 75



CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MINUTES REGULAR SESSION 

NORTH PLAINS SENIOR CENTER 
31450 NW Commercial  

Monday, December 2, 2013  
 
1. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor David Hatcher called the meeting to order at 7:00 

p.m. 
 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: Mayor Hatcher conducted the flag salute 
 
3. ROLL CALL: Mayor David Hatcher; Councilors: Michael Demagalski, Michael 

Broome, Charlynn Newton, Glen Warren and Robert Kindel, Jr. 
 
Excused absence: Council President Teri Lenahan 
 
Staff present: City Manager Martha DeBry, Chief of Police Bill Snyder, Public 
Works Director Blake Boyles, Library Director Debbie Brodie, Finance Director 
Rachael Lembo, Management Analyst Jennifer Knowles, Deputy City 
Recorder Margaret Reh 

 
4. CONSENT AGENDA: 
 

A. Approval of regular session agenda 

B. Approval of minutes of 11/18/2013 Council meeting 

Motion by Broome, seconded by Warren to approve the Consent Agenda.  The 
motion was approved unanimously. 
 
5.  PUBLIC COMMENT:  
  
Jim Abraham, 31689 NW Lenox Street addressed the Council regarding the 
placement of a 40’ x 10’ x 8’ shipping container that his neighbor has parked within 
the setbacks of the neighbors yard. Abraham has reported this to staff. Staff 
consulted the city attorney who advised staff to treat the container like a building. The 
neighbor, Don Demers, has received an abatement notice which has had one 
extension added to the original deadline. Abraham is concerned that this will continue 
to be extended so he wanted to bring it to the Council’s attention.  He states it is an 
eyesore and would hate for this to set a precedent for other residents. Demers, the 
neighbor, has since submitted a building permit which will require him to place a 
structure that meets code.   
 
6. PRESENTATION: 

A. Proclamation declaring December 10, 2013 as Human Rights Day and 
December 8-14, 2013 Human Rights Week: Salma Ahmed 

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 3 of 75



Salma Ahmad, Human Rights Council of Washington County, addressed the Council 
regarding the 65th anniversary of the United Nations declaration of human rights in 
which everyone is entitled to rights and freedoms.  They are requesting each city in 
Washington County to issue a proclamation in support of Human Right Day, 
Tuesday, December 10, 2013 and December 8-14, 2013 as Human Rights Week. 
 
Councilor Kindel asked if this declaration included unborn babies.  Ahmad said she 
believed it included the baby in the womb, as life begins upon conception. Kindel 
asked if Ahmad would confirm that the Human Rights Council of Washington County 
includes the protection and the rights of the unborn. 
 
Motion by Kindel. Seconded by Warren to approve the proclamation designating 
December 10, 2013 as “Human Rights Day” and December 8-14 as “Human Rights 
week” provided that this includes the right to life of the baby in the womb.  The motion 
was approved unanimously. 
 

B. FIRST LEGO League Team to expressed appreciation for the Council’s 
support and report on what the team is doing this year. 

 
The First Lego League team called the Blizzard Bots, appeared before the Council.  
They reported on their robotic project they have prepared for a tournament they will 
be competing in on December 14 at Hillsboro High School. Each member of the team 
presented a portion of their project and explained how they arrived at their theme for 
Natural Disaster Preparedness.  
 
The Council was very appreciative of the Blizzard Bots presentation and asked them 
to report back to the Council after the competition. 
 
7. PUBLIC HEARING: 
 None Scheduled 
 
8. NEW BUSINESS: 

A. Discussion of odor monitoring findings and Nature’s Needs Final Report 
with Tom Card of Washington County 

 
Theresa Koppang, Solid Waste Management of Washington County introduced Tom 
Card, Environmental Management Consulting of Enumclaw, Washington to the 
Council. Card presented the draft of the final report of the Odor Assessment Program 
of the Nature’s Needs Composting Site to the Council. A copy of this draft report was 
part of the Council packet. Card would be presenting the final report to the 
Washington County Board of Commissioners on Tuesday, December 3, 2013.   
 
Discussion ensued. Newton requested that, in the final report, Card state in his list of 
conclusions that the 30-40% odor reduction overall was also due to a large reduction 
in commercial food waste coming into the facility not just due to the changes made to 
the biofilter systems. 

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 4 of 75



 
The issue of food waste produced from the City of Hillsboro came up.  There had 
been talk that Nature’s Needs would be receiving Hillsboro food waste. 
Commissioner Bob Terry, also present at the meeting, assured the Council that this 
would not be happening. Hillsboro is looking for options at other facilities for the food 
waste to be sent to. 
 
Commissioner Terry stated that we were very fortunate that Recology continued to 
work through their processes to get to the place we are today. 
 

B. Consider the request for a BBQ Competition in early June. 
 
DeBry presented the staff report. Over the past year and a half, staff has researched 
the possibility of conducting a BBQ competition in North Plains.  The Pacific 
Northwest Barbeque Association (PNWBA) sanctions competitions that attract 
serious BBQ competitors. Teams that win sanctioned events have the opportunity to 
compete in the national competitions such as Jack Daniels Invitational and American 
Royal. Staff is seeking Council’s general direction in moving forward with planning 
this event. 
 
This BBQ competition could possibly be used as a fundraiser to benefit a non-profit in 
town. At this point in time the event would be called Brews, Blues and BBQ’s. The 
plan is to have a two day competition on Commercial Street to draw business to the 
downtown area.  The logistics of the BBQ will be run by the PNWBA.  The weekend 
they have available for us is Father’s Day weekend, June 14-15, 2014. 
 
In the planning discussions this event could include a car show, bands and food 
would be provided by the BBQ competitors. 
 
Council is concerned with the toll so many community events are taking on our 
volunteer pool and city staff. If this event includes a car show—that would be three 
car shows North Plains would be hosting during the summer. DeBry stated we could 
keep the BBQ simple and not have the car show and not include any activities for 
children. Hatcher’s concern is that it is not going to be as simple as staff is stating. 
 
Hatcher also pointed out that we have a limited supply of sponsors. We can’t keep 
asking the same companies to sponsor all these various events.  DeBry stated that 
we need to bring new money into our community instead of tapping the same 
resources and this event would help with that.  
 
Hatcher stated that J. Knowles was hired to increase economic development—
working at bringing businesses to the city, not being an event planner. DeBry stated 
that economic development is directly related to community events. We need to 
attract more businesses.  We want a vibrant community and need more businesses 
in the downtown area. We want to keep North Plains name out there to promote 

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 5 of 75



business. Hatcher agreed with DeBry. What we get as a community from these 
various events and activities is valuable—money well spent. 
 
Council stated that before they would be able to direct staff to continue moving 
forward they would like to know where we are at financially with all the events the city 
has been providing. Council wants to see a report of the expenses and revenues of 
the events we have had this year, especially an account of the Pumpkin Fun Run. 
Lembo will report on all the costs for the various events. 
 
Staff has until February 2014 to withdraw the commitment to the PNWBA. This will 
give staff time to get a feel for how much sponsorship can be acquired for this event. 
 
Kindel suggested that we bring this topic back to Council when the budget numbers 
for events and activities are in front of them.  
 
Motion by Demagalski. Seconded by Kindel to defer the barbeque competition 
discussion to the January 6th meeting. Hatcher asked for any further discussion. 
DeBry stated she would not be in attendance at the January 6th meeting. Upon the 
call for vote the motion failed unanimously. 
 
Motion by Newton. Seconded by Warren to defer the barbeque competition 
discussion to the next council meeting on December 16, 2013. The motion was 
approved unanimously. 
 

C. Adoption of Resolution No. 1807 Approving an Intergovernmental Loan 
from the City of North Plains’ General Fund to North Plains Urban Renewal 
Agency 

 
DeBry presented the staff report which described the financial status of the URA of 
North Plains. The URA must either pay off or refinance the principal balance on the 
loan for the Kaybern property in February.  The URA has a second loan for the 31311 
NW Commercial property.  
 
The URA is considering asking for an intergovernmental loan from the City of North 
Plains’ general fund. The City currently has available cash of approx. $3.2 million and 
is earning low interest, approx. 0.5%, in the Local Government Investment Pool. This 
will reduce the City’s liquidity slightly by the loan amount, however the amount is 
small enough that there will be no impact to the City’s operations. This loan would 
allow the URA to pay off both loans currently held with Columbia Community Bank. 
 
Council was concerned about this being legal.  DeBry stated that legal counsel has 
reviewed the accompanying resolution and intergovernmental agreement to assure 
the loan conforms as a legal debt of the URA.  This loan is being discussed at public 
meetings and are a part of the public record. Wilsonville, Salem and Cornelius have 
executed loans in this manner also. 
 

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 6 of 75



Motion by Broome. Seconded by Warren to adopt Resolution Number 1807 
approving an intergovernmental loan from the City of North Plains general fund to the 
Urban Renewal Agency of the City of North Plains.  The motion was approved 
unanimously. 
 

D. Adoption of Resolution No. 1808 approving the intergovernmental 
agreement between the City of Hillsboro and the City of North Plains for IT 
Services. 

 
City staff has been reviewing its options for computer support services.  After 
considerable research staff is presenting a resolution to the Council to enter into an 
agreement with the City of Hillsboro for IT services for the City of North Plains.  
DeBry pointed out specific items from the staff report supporting this agreement. 
Discussion ensued. 
 
Motion by Broome. Seconded by Demagalski to adopt Resolution Number 1808 
approving an intergovernmental agreement between the City of Hillsboro and the City 
of North Plains for an IT Services contract.  The motion was approved unanimously. 
 

E. Discussion website demo 
 
DeBry presented a demo of a new website format that the City will begin using. This 
new website offers more capabilities for inserting graphics and uses more of a memo 
format. It offers quicker links to documents and reports and users have ready access 
to payment options. It will include a public calendar so the public can check on the 
availability of the Jessie Mays Community Hall without having to call in. We will not 
be changing our domain name. This item was informational only—it should be up and 
running by the new year. 
 

F. Approval of newsletter advertising 
 
DeBry presented the staff report and explained staff is looking for Council’s 
permission to move forward with allowing local businesses and organizations to 
advertise in the city newsletter. This item was introduced to the Council in September 
and since then a history column has been added to the Newsletter. 
 
Motion by Kindel. Seconded by Warren to allow local businesses and organizations 
to advertise in the city newsletter.  The motion was approved unanimously. 
 

G. Discussion regarding the purchase of a portable stage for use of outdoor 
city activities. 

 
Council was asked to consider if the purchase of a portable stage was something 
staff should pursue at this time.  With the additional activities and events happening 
in the city there have been occasions where and elevated stage area would have 
been beneficial for the event.  Renting a stage is about $200/day and we could use a 

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 7 of 75



stage five to ten times a year—for the 4th of July Celebration; Concerts in the Park; 
inside Jessie Mays if an extension were needed. If we purchased our own portable 
stage we could rent it out to groups that may need it. Some discussion followed 
regarding the functionality of a portable stage. 
 
Motion by Demagalski. Seconded by Warren to defer the discussion of the acquisition 
of a portable stage to the next Council meeting.  The motion was approved 
unanimously. 
 
9. UNFINISHED BUSINESS: 

A. Discussion and approval of specific draft city policies from number 252-359 
 
The draft policy manual was distributed at the 9/16/13 council meeting to give the 
Councilors time to review and present any changes or concerns.  Council directed 
staff on 10/21 that batches of policies be reviewed at each meeting until they are all 
approved. 
 
Council went through policies 252-359 at this meeting.  Minor changes were made to 
a few policies. Council directed staff to make these revisions.  An edited copy of the 
manual will be delivered to Council at the end of the process. 
 
10. ORDINANCES: 
  
 FIRST READING:   

A. None Scheduled 
 

SECOND READING: 
B. None Scheduled 

 
11. STAFF REPORTS 
 
DeBry reported that planning is taking up more time. A public hearing is scheduled for 
a five home subdivision off of North Avenue at the next Planning Commission 
meeting on Wednesday, December 11, 2013. 
 
DeBry will be on vacation after the 1st of the year so she will miss the January 6th 
Council meeting. 
 
Boyles reminded the Council the Jingle parade is taking place this Thursday. Golf 
carts have been ordered and there are still room for individuals to ride along. 
 
Chief Snyder had to leave Council early. DeBry reported that Snyder has been very 
busy.  The grants for ODOT are still been worked. 
 
Brodie reported that the December Library Board meeting has been cancelled so 
Councilor Demagalski will not need to attend a board meeting in December. 

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 8 of 75



 
The William Stafford Centennial Event is scheduled for Friday, January 17 at 7:00 
p.m. at St. Edward Hall. There will be a strong interest in this event, so the library is 
taking reservations for the event now.  Call the library at 503-647-5051 to reserve 
your place. 
 
Lembo reported that the budget process will be ramping up again.  Also, in March the 
finance staff will be migrating to a new version of Springbrook. 
 
12. COUNCIL REPORTS 
 
Hatcher reported that there will not be a Council Christmas party this year because 
the Council has been invited to the staff Christmas party on December 13 which also 
includes the various city boards. So there will be a regularly scheduled Council 
meeting held on December 16. 
 
The Holiday Bazaar is scheduled for Saturday, December 7 at Jessie Mays 
Community Hall. This is the same day as the St. Edward Bazaar. This has been 
scheduled like this for the past few years to bring in people to both events. Eva 
Nestrova is organizing this event. 
 
The Farmers’ Market has been meeting with the Chamber of Commerce.  There has 
been discussion of moving the market from Saturday morning to Thursday evening 
and bringing it out to Commercial Street instead of along 314th.  The Chamber is 
considering taking on a bigger role in the market. 
 
Glen Warren is concerned with lot sizes of the east expansion area. He also 
expressed a concern that Polygon is building the homes. He stated that a home in a 
development he is aware of that Polygon built ten years ago is really bad.  DeBry was 
able to explain some of the details covered at the Planning Commission regarding the 
lot sizes and the mix of homes that helped Warren understand the final plan. 
 
Broome reported the benefit dance on November 23, 2013 raised $415 for the 
Friends of the Library. He also invited all the Council to attend the Sweet Heart 
Dance that is scheduled for February 15, 2014 at Jessie Mays Community Hall.  It will 
be a fantastic event for couples and there will be many raffle prizes available. 
 
DeBry stated the Senior Center is sponsoring a dance on December 21st at Jessie 
Mays. 
 
13. ADVICE/INFORMATION ITEMS: 

 Thursday, December 5: Jingle Parade at 6:30 at Jessie Mays 
 Saturday, December 7: North Plains Holiday Bazaar at Jessie Mays from 

9:00-4:00 
 Friday, January 17, 2014 at 7:00: William Stafford Event-An evening of 

Conversation, Wine and Poetry with Kim Stafford and the master of 

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 9 of 75



ceremonies is Brian Doyle at St. Edward Parish Hall. 
 Saturday, January 18, 2014 North Plains Senior Center Crab and Steak 

Feed at 3:00, 4:30 and 6:00 p.m. at Jessie Mays Community Hall. 
 Sunday, January 26 from 1:30-5:00: Playdate at Jessie Mays Community 

Hall 
 
14. ADJOURNMENT: Mayor Hatcher adjourned the meeting at 10:00 p.m. 
 

 
 
______________________________ 
David Hatcher, Mayor 
 
 
 
______________________________ Date approved __________________ 
Margaret L. Reh, Deputy Recorder 

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 10 of 75



 

Agenda Item No.: 8A   

 

CITY OF NORTH PLAINS 

31360 NW Commercial Street, North Plains, Oregon 97133 

 

Date:  December 16, 2013 

To:  City Council 

From:  City Manager Martha DeBry 

Subject: Adoption of Resolution No. 1809 declaring surplus obsolete or non-
functioning equipment and authorizing sale or disposal of such property 

Request:  Council consider approving Resolution No. 1809 declaring certain obsolete 
or non-functioning equipment surplus and authorize the sale of disposal of said 
property. 
 
Background:  The North Plains Police department periodically needs to declare 
property obsolete or non-functioning.  The property listed on Resolution No.1809 has 
been out of commission and been in storage for at least 60 days.  In accordance with 
Municipal Code 1.15, the Council can declare the property as surplus, allowing the 
Police Chief to dispose of the items either through sale or donation.  
 
Fiscal Impact:  The City will offer the items for sale or donation.  Any revenue will be 
remitted to the General Fund.  
 
Environmental Issues:  There are no environmental issues associated with this item. 
 
Sample Motion:  I move to adopt Resolution No. 1809. 
 
Attachment – Resolution 

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 11 of 75



 RESOLUTION NO. 1809 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, 
OREGON, DECLARING SURPLUS OBSOLETE OR NON-FUNCTIONING 

EQUIPMENT AND AUTHORIZING SALE OR DISPOSAL OF SUCH PROPERTY 
 

 WHEREAS, the North Plains Police Department has accumulated property 
items that have been determined to be obsolete or non-functioning; and, 
 
  WHEREAS,  Municipal Code Chapter 1.15—Abandoned Personal Property 
states that the Chief of Police may deem the appropriateness of the disposal of such 
property; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, a detailed list of the property to be disposed of and an estimate of 
the value of each item has been compiled; and,  
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council is being asked to approve the disposition of such 
property on the list; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the Chief of Police shall dispose of said property according to the 
guidelines set forth in the Municipal Code. 
 
  WHEREAS, a list of excess equipment has been assembled to include: 

 Brown Metal Chair $1.00 
 Broken blue Kenmore vacuum cleaner 10.00 
 Black plastic tub 1.00 
 Hovey Spike Strips 100.00 
 Yellow floor jack 10.00 
 Vanguard Padded Case 10.00 
 Screw packs (x3) 5.00  
 OHAUS Triple beam scale 40.00 
 Taser padded case 5.00 
 Police console box stand (x2) 10.00 
 Police car roll cage (from Crown Victoria)( x2) 200.00 
 Police car Custody seat (x2) 200.00  
 Ramming bumper and accessories 250.00 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 
THE CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, OREGON, declares as surplus obsolete or non-
functioning equipment and authorizes its sale, donation or disposal. 

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 12 of 75



 
INTRODUCED AND ADOPTED this 16th day of December, 2013. 

 
CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, OREGON 
 
 
BY:  _____________________________________ 

David Hatcher, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
BY:  _____________________________________ 

Margaret L. Reh, Deputy City Recorder 

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 13 of 75



City of North Plains

FY13-14 Community Events expense breakdown

as of December 11, 2013

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e )
Approved 

2013/14

 Year to 

Date Actual 

 Unbudgeted 

Received Net Cost Variance*

Budget Expense Revenue to City Budget-Net

4th of July 2013 19,000        20,848        1,730                 19,118        (118)                 A

Concerts in the Park 900              2,054          1,200                 854              46                     B

National Night Out 600              537              -                      537              63                     

Pumpkin Run/Fall Festival 3,000          1,585          2,766                 (1,181)         4,181               C

Chili Cookoff 300              492              -                      492              (192)                 

Holiday Bazaar/Jingle 100              580              379                     201              (101)                 D

Ice Cream Social 300              -               -                      -               300                  

Farmers' Market 300              -               -                      -               300                  

BBQ -              100              -                      100              (100)                 E

4th of July 2014 -              618              -                      618              (618)                 F

Music Shows/Dances 1,200          2,500          1,115                 1,385          (185)                 G

Playdates 150              -               -                      -               150                  

Senior Center Donation 1,000          -               -                      -               1,000               

Community Action Don. 500              -               -                      -               500                  

TOTAL 27,350        29,314        7,190                 22,124        5,226               

* Variance =  (a) Approved Budgeted + (c )Unbudgeted Revenue - (d) Year to date expense

Comments:

A - Total revenue for the 2013 event was $4.3k, but some was recorded in the prior year. 

B - Revenue includes a $1k grant from Washington County and donations

C - Revenue is primarily run registrations and sponsors

D - Expense includes a $500 replacement sign for the Jingle. 

E - Expense is initial new event application. 

F - Expense is part time staff planning 2014 event.

G - Revenue is from tickets which is then donated to a charity and included in expense. 

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 14 of 75

mreh
Typewritten Text

mreh
Typewritten Text
Agenda Item 

mreh
Typewritten Text

mreh
Typewritten Text
8B

mreh
Typewritten Text



Staff time Estimate for Special Events in 2012/13

Hours

City 

Manager

Public 

Works 

Director

Police 

Chief

Utiltity 

Worker 3

Utiltity 

Worker 2

Utiltity 

Worker 2

Account 

Clerk II

Account 

Clerk II

Account 

Clerk II

Police 

Officer

Lib Vol 

Coor Clerk Clerk

Mgmt 

Analyst Reserves

Martha Blake Bill Mike Charles Ben Margaret Pam Sarah Tim Carol Sierra Marrina Jennifer

4th of July 2013 272 36 72 10 16 16 27 6 10 6 12 0 20 6 0 35

Concerts in the Park 35 1 0 0 2 0 2 30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

National Night Out 49 1 6 4 4 0 2 0 6 2 12 0 4 0 0 8

Pumpkin Run/Fall Festival 44 6 0 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 30 0

Chili Cookoff 10 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 4 2 0 0 0 0 0 0

Holiday Bazaar 6 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Jingle 11 0 2 2 2 0 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 0 2 0

Ice Cream Social 12 0 0 0 2 0 2 0 4 2 0 2 0 0 0 0

Farmers' Market 8 0 0 0 4 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Music Shows/Dances 8 4 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Playdates 20 20 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Garlic Festival 255 6 4 20 48 40 48 0 0 0 24 0 0 0 0 65

Garage Sale/Plant Sale 17 1 1 0 6 0 6 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Clean Up Day 22 0 8 0 8 0 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Volunteer Recognition 19 1 0 0 4 0 4 0 4 2 0 4 0 0 0 0

Total 788

Proposed BBQ 2014 102 12 0 8 4 0 4 0 0 0 8 0 0 0 50 16

July 4 2014 261 12 4 10 16 0 16 0 0 0 8 80 0 0 80 35

Exempt Employees Part time employees Paid/Unpaid

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 15 of 75

mreh
Typewritten Text
Agenda Item 8B



__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 16 of 75

mreh
Typewritten Text
November Check Register-Auto Pay



__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 17 of 75



__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 18 of 75



__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 19 of 75

mreh
Typewritten Text
November Check Register-Manual Checks



__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 20 of 75



__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 21 of 75



__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 22 of 75



__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 23 of 75



__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 24 of 75



__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 25 of 75



__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 26 of 75



 

 

Agenda Item No: 9A  
 
CITY OF NORTH PLAINS 
31360 NW Commercial Street, North Plains, Oregon 97133 

 

Date:   December 11, 2013 

To:  City Council 

From:  City Manager Martha DeBry 

Subject: BBQ Competition 

 
Request:  Council discuss the addition of a BBQ competition as a large community event.    
 
Background:  At the December 2, 2013 meeting, City Council requested additional information 
regarding the proposal of a BBQ competition and funding available for the same.  Finance 
Manager Rachael Lembo provided an update on the status of the Council budget activity where 
community programs are included, which is in Council’s packet.  
 
Staff has proposed a two-day BBQ competition on June 14 and 15 as a new event that should 
have regional appeal.  A large event such as this would attract visitors from the greater Portland 
metropolitan area to downtown, and present opportunities for local groups to fundraise, and 
businesses to showcase their wares, attracting new wealth into our community.   
 

Schedule: 
Below is a rough schedule of the event: 

 
 

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 27 of 75



Proposed Budget: 
A table of the expenses and revenue sources for the proposed event.  The three main activities 
are the BBQ competition itself, a car show and a kids area.  The two main sources of revenue 
would be entry fees and sponsorships.   
 

BBQ Event Activities     

GRAND TOTAL EXPENSES $10,470  GRAND TOTAL REVENUE $10,475 

BBQ Competition     

Expense     Revenues   

PNWBA Application $100  Entry Fees (25@$150) $3,750 

PNWBA Services $800  Beer concession $300 

Advertising $400  Parking concession $200 

Shuttle Carts $180  Sponsors $4,500 

Music and Entertainment $3,000  Scrip $600 

Scrip supplies $50     

Prize Purse $5,000     

Subtotal $9,530   Subtotal $9,350 

Car Show     

Expense     Revenues   

Dash plaques $200  Entry Fees (75@$15) $1,125 

Goody bags $300     

Trophies and ribbons $400     

Subtotal $900   Subtotal $1,125 

     

Kids Area     

Expense     Revenues   

Bounce houses $0     

Face painting $40  NA $0 

Subtotal $40   Subtotal $0 
 
The estimated 25 BBQ entries is based on past participation in the Aloha Thriftway BBQ event.  
Aloha was in the time slot that the City has requested for this year and was located approximately 
10 miles away from North Plains in a shopping center parking lot.  Between 2008 and 2012 the 
Aloha Thriftway competition averaged 29 entries, with the lowest number being 18 and the 
greatest number 39.  Since proximity to the homes of the competitive teams is considered one of 
the most important factors when a team decides to participate in an event, the City appears well 
positioned to gain 25-35 entries.  (Thriftway cancelled its 2013 event due in part to a store 
remodel.)  
 
There is a risk that sponsorships may not be attained.  In this regard the City’s worst exposure if 
it received no sponsorships is roughly $4,500.  That said, staff is confident that it can exceed the 

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 28 of 75



$4,500 funding level, while being sensitive to need to minimize fatigue among local donors.   The 
coordinator Jennifer Knowles, who is also responsible for soliciting for the July 4 will avoid 
soliciting from the businesses that have traditionally assisted the Elephant Garlic festival.   
 
Because donations and expenses would be run through the budget process it would be necessary 
to allocate roughly $10,500 for the BBQ event.  This estimate shows costs on the high side, and 
some options like entertainment or the car show can be scaled back.  Additionally, the PNWBA 
costs were increased by approximately $400 to cover contingencies. Funding for the event can 
be allocated through the General Fund, with anticipated funding from entries and sponsors 
making it revenue neutral. 
 

Volunteers: 
When this event was first presented to Council, some concern was expressed about the number 
of volunteers and staff needed to operate such an event.   
 
The table below shows an estimate of the staff time needed to operate the event.  Advance hours 
would primarily be associated with the event coordinator Jennifer Knowles, the City Manager and 
movement of equipment by Public Works.  By comparison to other events like Garlic Festival this 
event would consume very little staff time.  Cash management on the day of the event can be 
managed by exempt employees.  Staff is proposing Public Works role in this event be limited to 
work performed on regular business days.     
 

Paid Staff hours Advance Saturday Sunday Monday 

Sink 4 0 0 3 

Street Closure barricades 1 0 0 1 

Tables, chairs, benches 6 0 0 3 

Coordinator (outreach, business 
coordination, entertainment 
coordination, ash, grease, garbage 
disposal, sanitation) 50 8 8 4 

City Manager (oversight) 12 8 8 0 

Total 74 16 16 11 
 
Below is an estimate of the volunteer needs on the day of the event.  Volunteers are broken down 
into two categories.  Those supplied by the Pacific Northwest Barbeque Association (PNWBA) 
and local volunteers.  As part of the process of staging this event, the City would enter into an 
agreement with the PNWBA to obtain their services which include: 

 Appointment of a PNWBA coordinator 
 Appointment of a head judge(s) 
 Providing judges on the days of the event 
 Supervise judging 
 Inspection of contestants 
 Conducting meetings of entrants and judges 
 Outreach/advertising  
 Obtaining and presenting awards 
 Provide insurance for the event 

BBQ competitions require a lot volunteers to act as judges.  These people are recruited and 
trained by the PNWBA, and frequent this kind of event.    

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 29 of 75



Volunteer Staffing Advance Saturday Sunday 

Total Number of Volunteers 1 21 50 

PNWBA Volunteers 1 14 27 

Local Volunteers 0 7 23 
 

BBQ Competition 
  

4 am -10 
pm 

10 am -4 
pm 

Roles Advance Saturday Sunday 
PNWBA Competition coordinator 
(includes application receipt, load in, 
competitor meeting, inspection, 
coordination) 1 1 1 

PNWBA Head Judges   1 2 

PNWBA Judges   12 24 

Garbage   2 3 

Scrip Sales   1 4 

Subtotal 1 17 34 
 
A script sale system is proposed to allow the City to obtain more revenue.  Tickets would be sold 
for both food and drink.  Vendors would then accept the tickets as payment.  At the end of the day 
the vendors would receive a distribution based on their individual ticket sales, and the City would 
keep a portion of the total sales.  
 
The kids area requires minimal staffing, and teenagers can be used for tasks like face painting 
and monitoring jump houses. These services would be offered at no cost to the public, and are 
often a favorite of local participants.  It is also important to the PNWBA that the event be perceived 
as family-friendly.  This area can be scaled back if needed. 
 

Kids Area   
4 pm - 8 

pm 
10 am - 4 

pm 

Roles Advance Saturday Sunday 

Monitors (bounce house)    2 3 

Best dad competition    2 

3-leged race    2 
Adventures without limits (fire 
starting)    (staff) 

Face Painters   2 3 

Subtotal   4 10 
 
The Car Show is not essential to the success of the BBQ event, but it will draw more people to 
the event, which in turn should help sustain it.  Ms. Knowles is already involved in the promotion 
of the 4th of July and Garlic Festival car shows and the addition of this event would maximize the 
benefit for time spent developing promotions and distributing fliers for all three. 
 

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 30 of 75



Car Show     8 am - 3 pm 

Roles Advance Saturday Sunday 

Coordinator 1   1 

Registration     2 

Placement     4 

Judges     3 

SubTotal 1 0 10 
 
Staff is proposing that both a beer garden and parking concessions are created to raise funds for 
the event.  The concept is for a business or organization to assume responsibility for the activity.  
For example, the Last Waterin’ Hole has indicated it could provide staff and monitors to operate 
a beer garden, which would help increase their business while minimizing the need for volunteers 
and the risk of unsold products. Likewise, parking can be organized by a group like the Senior 
Center, Cub Scouts or NPEA.   
 

To be consigned to organizations or businesses    

Parking Concession     9 am - 4 pm 

Roles Advance Saturday Sunday 

Parking      4 

Shuttle to/from parking     2 

Total     6 

    

Beer Garden Concession   
4 pm - 8 

pm 10 am-4 pm 

Roles    

Beer concession    2 3 

Exit monitors   2 6 

Subtotal   4 9 
 
BBQ events typically do not feature other kinds of vendors.  Staff believes vendors could be 
accommodated if they wanted to sell something like side dishes, BBQ accessories, or crafts but 
having vendors present will not be a focus of the event. 
 
Fiscal Impact:  If the City pursues the competition, every effort would be made to make this a 
revenue neutral or profitable event.  The commitment of staff time to the event would be the 
primary soft cost.  In the worst case, if sponsorships were unattainable, the City would be placing 
at most $4,500 at risk.  Funding for this event would be included in the supplemental budget.  To 
minimize costs the City can scale back aspects of the event, including the entertainment and car 
show expenses.  
 
Sample Motion:  I move to have staff proceed with a BBQ competition.    

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 31 of 75



dftp · april 2013 | 3

MONTH COMPETITION LOCATION DATE PRIZES
April Kla Ha Ya Spring Fest (Lite Cook) Snohomish, WA 4/21/2013 $2,500

Washington State Spring BBQ Championship Monroe, WA 4/27 - 4/28/2013 $5,000
May Cloverdale Rodeo Cowboy Cook-off Cloverdale, BC 5/18 - 5/19/2013 $10,000
June BC Children’s Hospital BBQ For Kids Kelowna, BC 6/1 - 6/2/2013 $5,000

Pete’s Fremont Fire Pit BBQ Cook-off (Lite Cook) Seattle, WA 6/2/2013 $TBA
McKinley Springs BBQ Prosser, WA 6/7 - 6/8/2013 $7,000
Canadian Festival of Chili and BBQ Langley, BC 6/22 - 6/23/2013 $15,000
Bikes, Brews & BBQs (Lite Cook)) Coeur d’Alene, ID 6/29/2013 $5,000

July Cascade Country Cook-off Chehalis, WA 7/6 - 7/7/2013 $5,000
1st Annual Drummond BBQ Cook-off Drummond, MT 7/6 - 7/7/2013 $6,500
Cheney Jubilee Cheney, WA 7/13 - 7/14/2013 $5,000
Smoke on the Highway (Lite Cook) Abbotsford, BC 7/20/2013 $5,000
Molalla’s Wild River BBQ Cook-off Molalla, OR 7/20 - 7/21/2013 $3,500
Stumptown BBQ Smoke-off Whitefish, MT 7/27 - 7/28/2013 $TBA
RockFest BBQ Cook-Off Castle Rock, WA 7/27 - 7/28/2013 $TBA

August Smokin’ in the Root Stevensville, MT 8/2 - 8/3/2013 $TBA
Canadian National Championships Whistler, BC 8/3 - 8/4/2013 $TBA
Toontown Smokedown Saskatoon, SK 8/3 - 8/4/2013 $5,000
Fire it Up BBQ Cook-off Florence, OR 8/10 - 8/11/2013 $3,900
Those Were The Days Festival North Battleford, SK 8/10 - 8/11/2013 $TBA
Smokey Pt. BBQ Cook-off Arlington, WA 8/16 - 8/17/2013 $4,000
IPA Brewers Challenge Portland, OR 8/17 - 8/18/2013 $TBA
North Surrey Auto Mall Car B Que Surrey, BC 8/25/2013 $2,500
Juarez Canyon Oregon City, OR 8/30 - 8/31/2013 $3,500

September Tree Top Skewered Apple Selah, WA 9/7 - 9/8/2013 $TBA
BBQ on the Bypass Langley, BC 9/14 - 9/15/2013 $5,000
Basin BBQ Bash Moses Lake, WA 9/21 - 9/22/2013 $TBA

MONTH BBQ COOKING CLASSES LOCATION DATE

May Pitmaster Class Yakima, WA 05/04/2013

Pitmaster Class Portland, OR 05/05/2013

Pitmaster Class Cheney, WA 05/18/2013

July Pitmaster Class Chehalis, WA 07/06/2013

MONTH JUDGING CLASSES LOCATION DATE
May Judging Class Yakima, WA 05/04/2013

Judging Class Portland, OR 05/05/2013

Judging Class Cheney, WA 05/18/2013

July Judging Class Chehalis, WA 07/06/2013

August Judging Class Saskatoon, SK 08/02/2013

2013 pnWBa schedule

Competition information subject to change without notice. Please check website for up to date information.__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 32 of 75



Participants in the Aloha Thriftway BBQ Events 2009-2012

Team Name 2012 2011 2010 2009 Location

Entries 34 18 29 39 PNWBA members

Fat Dads - Scott W. X X X X Klamath Falls, OR

Movin' The Chains BBQ Team - Jesse H. X X X X Beaverton, OR

Slabtown BBQ - Tim K. X X X X Portland, OR

Sugars BBQ - Lynnae O. X X X X Portland, OR

Team Green - Jason s. X X X X Beaverton, OR

Woodstock Smokers - Gregg F X X X X Portland, OR

Smokin' Timbers - James P. X X X Portland, OR

Filbert Burners - Bob J. X X X

Wine Country Q - JD M X X Duvall, WA

JD Q - Joe T X X Aurora, OR

Junior's Que - Verl G. X X

Baltic BBQ Boyz - Ryan O X X Shoreline, WA

Boneshakin' BBQ - Gregg M X X

Dances with Smoke - Tom W. X X Renton, WA

Flameboyz - Lowell S X X Aloha, OR

Aloha BBQ Club - Dennis J. X

Andres BBQ / Scotts - Andre R. X

Backyard Bum BBQ - Ron C X Portland, OR

Bad Bones BBQ - Brian G X

Cam Bone - Cameron F X

Duke's BBQ Pit - David F X Hillsboro, OR

DW Smoke Masters - Bruce D. X

Frank's Q - Frank V. X

Ice Harbor Brewing Co. - Doug R X Kennewick, WA

Lake House BBQ - Diane M. X Everett, WA

Leukemia Sucks Too - Dale G X

Nagging Wife BBQ - Robert K. X Hillsboro, OR

Rockin' the Smoke - Coree S. X Gresham, OR

Slick's Big Time BBQ - Daniel S. X

Smokey's Bar-B-Que - James J. X Snohomish, WA

Smokin in Suburbia - Paul W. X

Smokin' Pigs Turnkey BBQ - Robert J X Damascus, OR

The Not-So-Kosher Dawgs - Gregg S X Ellensburg, WA

Wild Waynes BBQ - Wayne M. X

Hellfire & Brimstone - Derrick W X X X Portland, OR

Dazed and Confused - Lonnie R. X X Longview, WA

Smokey River BBQ LLC - Bob G. X X Troutdale, OR

Bush Kitchen - Saffron H. X Redmond, WA

David B. X

Heaven Bound BBQ - Jesse H X Milwaulkie, OR

Maddogs BBQ - Pat M. X University Place, WA

Rustys BBQ - Rusty X Port Moody, BC

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 33 of 75



Verl G. X

2nd Church of Bringin' Pork to the People - Joe K X X

Blitz BBQ - Rich G. X X Beaverton, OR

Ella's BBQ - Cindy H X X Portland, OR

It's 5 o'clock Somewhere BBQ - Bucky P X X

Okie Dokie Smokie - Doug L X X

This Butt's for Que - Craig H. X X Florence, OR

Browncoats Barbecue - Nathan M X Woodinville, WA

Foxes Bar-B-Que Team - Jim F X Anacortes, WA

Mop, Sauce and Two Smoking Barrels - Chris A X Kirkland, WA

Roadkill BBQ - Steve W. X

Rogue Caveman Q - Darrell S X Grants Pass, OR

Slow Ride Barbecue - David B X Lincoln, City

The B Team - Jeff A X

Uncle Johns - John B. X Portland, OR

WolfBone BBQ - Gregg M X

Woody and the Boners - Monte W. X

Boneyard BBQ - Michael W X

Aurora's Movers & Shakers - Joe T X

Big Kahuna's BBq - Gary H X Portland, OR

Big Shirley's - Amy W X

Burnt Ends BBQ - John R. X Portland, OR

Butt Smugglers - Adam C. X

Cider House BBQ - Dale G. X Vancouver, WA

Da Fat Boys - John B. X Gresham, OR

Doc's Pit - David H X

Drunken Pig - Tim J. X Auburn, WA

Gold Bar-B-Q - Bob B X Gold Bar, WA

Lonestar Smokers - Dan S X Longview, WA

Old Dawg BBQ - James B. X Snoqualmie, WA

Over the Coals - Larry H. X Bremerton, WA

Paradise BBQ - Cheryl G X

Piggy D's BBQ - Darel M. X Winthrop, WA

Rolling Hogs - Larry H. X

S&S BBQ - Tom B X

Smokin' Ty's BBQ - Ty S. X Everett, WA

T-Roy's BBQ Co. - Troy W. X Portland, OR

Two Boarders BBQ - Michael B X

Wolf It Down BBQ - Ken W. X

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 34 of 75



Event Sanctioning Information Page 1 Version 1.0 

Event Sanctioning Information 
 

 

Overview 

So, you or your group is thinking about holding a BBQ competition, like those you see on the Food 
Network and other TV channels. There’s a lot that goes into setting up a BBQ contest, and the Pacific 
Northwest BBQ Association (PNWBA) is here to help you by providing information and assistance. 

You may want to hold a small event or a large event, a charity event, or add a barbecue component to 
an existing event. These are all possible provided that you have adequate resources and time to 
dedicate to the event. 

To begin with, you need to decide whether you want your event to be “sanctioned”, meaning you work 
with an established BBQ organization. There are many reasons to have your event sanctioned. The 
assurance that your contest will be run in a professional manner with judging performed consistent with 
established BBQ standards, using a double blind judging system, and with procedural rules that will be 
enforced. It is this proven sanctioned event structure that attracts competition cooks and makes your 
event successful. 

The PNWBA is just one of several BBQ contest sanctioning bodies operating around the United States 
and Canada. We generally sanction events in the Pacific Northwest (Washington, Oregon, Idaho, 
Montana, Alaska) and in western Canada, but we are not limited to these areas. The PNWBA is the 
second oldest BBQ association in the nation, with a significant base of cooks, a support system for 
organizers, and a reputation for excellence in judging. 

The Pacific Northwest Barbeque Association is a non-profit organization (501c3) whose purpose is to 
provide education about barbecue. In support of its mission, it holds cooking classes and barbeque 
contests throughout the Western States and Canada. The organization has about 650 members, 
although it is not necessary to be a member to participate in any of its events. PNWBA sanctions 
approximately 40 events per year, which includes classes for new cooks, the judging of BBQ as well as 
contests. 

Our members (cooks) have participated in and won awards at national events such as the Jack Daniels 
Invitational, the American Royal, and the Great American BBQ contests. 

Still interested in sanctioning your event? Then follow the 4 steps below... 

1. Read this document and the sanctioning application very carefully. There are many 
considerations and specific requirements for events sanctioned by the PNWBA. 

2. Consider dates that will work for you before contacting us. Look at a calendar and select several 
options. There are many existing annual events that are given priority if there are multiple 
events requested for the same weekend. It is not practical to schedule BBQ events that conflict 
geographically as there are a finite number of competition teams to attend each weekend. 

3. Call or email us with questions. Contact the PNWBA Events Coordinator or President (contact 
information on our website). It is better to discuss the event before dedicating too much time or 
money if it is not going to be possible to sanction. 

4. Complete the sanctioning application and send it with the $100 application fee to the PNWBA. 

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 35 of 75



Event Sanctioning Information Page 2 Version 1.0 

Event Planning - Getting your ducks in a row 

To put on a BBQ event, some things are needed and some decisions must be made. 

TYPE OF EVENT 

Decide if you are having a one-day or two-day cook-off. It is recommended new competitions start life 
as a one-day (or “lite”) event.  

One Day Lite Cooks begin around 6:00AM and the event is usually over by 5:00PM. Competition is in 
ribs, chicken, sausage and tri-tip. These are very popular with teams starting out and teams looking for a 
change to the two day competition. 

Two Day Standard These are the main competitions in pork, brisket, ribs and chicken. They require the 
teams arrive the day prior so they can cook through the night. If the event gets adequate numbers it 
becomes a qualifier for national and international events (15 for a first year event and 25 for a second 
year event). 

PRIZE MONEY 

The Pacific Northwest BBQ Association does not procure prize money for events. You must have a 
guaranteed source and amount of prize money 70 days prior to the event for us to proceed with 
scheduling and advertising your event. The PNWBA will not continue to sanction the event without this 
prize money guarantee. 

Prize money at a standard full event cook ranges from $2,000 to $35,000 with the current average 
settling at about $5,000. This total prize pool pays out each of the four categories to a minimum of 6th 
place, plus a Reserve Grand Champion and Grand Champion. For competitions with more than 30 teams 
there is also a Reserve Champion (3rd place). Sample pay out schedules can be provided on request. 

ON-SITE EVENT NECESSITIES 

The following facilities/services must be provided... 

 Ash disposal (with covers) 

 Garbage disposal 

 Grease collection 

 Grey water disposal 

 Restrooms (or portable toilets) 

 Running water 

 Security for overnight events 

The following facilities/services should be strongly considered... 

 Provision of ice, either free or delivered at reasonable cost 

 Power, for night lighting and required for some pits 

 Parking for trucks, cars and trailers that are not part of the team set-up 

 Is there space for RVs either onsite or near the event (closer to the team set-up the better) 

PNWBA Promotion and Marketing 

If requested, it is required that a 10 x 10 space be made available for the PNWBA to set up an information 

booth where we can provide information about barbecue and sell PNWBA promotional materials. 

Cross marketing is required with the event required to use the official PNWBA logo on all contest 
materials, including but not limited to: promotional items, advertisements, banners, signage, shirts and 
all other contest materials. The event logo with be used on PNWBA promotions and communications. 

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 36 of 75



Event Sanctioning Information Page 3 Version 1.0 

LOCATION 

Do you have a venue large enough to set up a barbecue competition? On top of whatever other 
activities you have happening as part of your event the barbecue competition needs... 

Teams require a space measuring a minimum 10’ x 15’ per team with larger teams using trailer pits 
requiring a 20’ x 20’ space. More space is required for some teams. 

Judging and meeting area requires a space with power, tables and chairs. This may be either indoors or 
outdoors with a sturdy tent. The size of this area is based on the number of teams attending your event 
but it must be 20’ x 20’ minimum. 

When planning space consider the fire access lanes that may be required when getting the fire permit. 

PERMITS 

You are responsible for finding out and obtaining all permits, inspections or similar, at your own cost, 
required for your event. This may include but is not limited to fire permits, Health Department permits, 
park usage, fire extinguisher inspection, council use approval and similar. 

A copy of the Fire Permit must be provided to the PNWBA. 

If you would like teams to sample you must provide the event Health Department approval prior to 
teams submitting their permit applications to sample /vend. 

REGISTRATION 

Decide whether you would like the PNWBA to handle the event registration process for you, or that you 
want to handle registration yourself. If you collect payments they must be forwarded to the PNWBA 2 
weeks prior to the event at the same time as the prize money. 

PUBLIC FOOD/TASTING 

Although the barbecue competition meats are prepared for the judges, there are instances where 
leftover food may be made available to the public. This is dependent on a number of factors such as the 
posture and requirements of the local Health Department, the nature and size of the event.  

The ultimate decision on whether to participate in sampling is up to the individual teams and no 
guarantee can be made on the participation levels. 

Public food/ tasting options 

 Competition leftovers cut into small bites and offered for people to taste. 
Helps to build interest and good will with event visitors. 

 Competition leftovers and extra cooked meat offered for sale by cooks. 
Helps cooks offset the cost of competing and travelling to remote event locations. 

 Competition leftovers and extra cooked meat offered for sale by cooks, using scrip sold by a 
charity that gets a portion of the money taken in.  
Raises money for the charity, helps cooks offset the cost of competing (entry fee, meat, travel). 

 Organizer provides meats to teams who cook it and give it back, to be sold by charity. 
Food sales raise money for charity. 

Sometimes a People’s Choice competition is held in conjunction with the public tasting options listed 
above, adding another element of competition and enhanced public involvement. 

The requirements of local health departments vary widely (allowed, not allowed, permits required, etc.) 
regarding food service to the public, and you must explore the rules prior to planning your event. 

  

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 37 of 75



Event Sanctioning Information Page 4 Version 1.0 

ANCILLARY EVENTS 

Depending on your particular situation, other barbecue events may be of interest to you. 

Extra Categories Usually held on the first day of a two-day event this competition gives cooks an 
opportunity to compete in non-traditional barbecue contests like chili, Dutch oven, desserts, pizza, 
finger foods, and similar. This is a good opportunity to highlight sponsors products. 

Whole Hog Although uncommon in the Pacific Northwest, this is a popular class of barbecue 
competition with there being many teams capable of competing. This would offer a different and 
interesting dimension to the right event. 

Cooking Class PNWBA teaches beginner Pit Master classes. One may be held prior to your scheduled 
event. This may draw interested cooks into competition and increases participation in remote locations. 

Judging Class Instruction on PNWBA methods of judging barbecue may be held prior to your scheduled 
event. This creates a pool of qualified judges where few or none may exist, generally raises public 
interest. 

Optimising Your Event 

It should be understood that the cooking teams generally cook about $200+ worth of meat, pay an entry 
fee, buy wood, sauces, rubs, fuel to travel to the event, and more often than not stay in a hotel one or 
two nights. It’s a major expense for a team to come and compete often totalling over a thousand dollars.  

With so many competitions available to choose from now it is necessary to consider how you want to 
appeal to the potential teams. This may include good prize money, subsidised entry fees or a great ‘feel 
good’ event. 

During 2011 a PNWBA member discussed this across 4 competition barbecue forums and we would like 
to share the summary for your consideration. 

What are the top 5 reasons for choosing a particular barbecue competition? 

1. Distance...how close it is to home? 
2. Entry Fee...how much it costs to enter? 
3. Reputation...family friendly, organizers take care of the teams? 
4. Pay-Outs...prize money (comparable to entry fees)? 
5. Location...easy access, level sites, grass vs. asphalt? 

What are the main amenities/organization you look for in a competition? 

1. Water...delivered or close proximity to site. 

2. Power...clean, reliable, and close proximity to site. 

3. Ice...available on site or delivered (free or reasonable cost). 

4. Trash pick up...continuous on site pick up. 

5. Parking...on site for RV, trailer, or truck. 

6. Porta Potty's...plenty of them...clean & well serviced. 

7. Communications...clear, concise and timely with the promoter, sponsors, sanctioning 

body, etc. 

8. Site Boundaries...clearly marked and assigned according to team requests as to size 

needed. Boundary lines strictly enforced. 

9. Noise...quiet hours strictly enforced, no loud music. 

10. Disposal...gray water, grease, and ash disposal available and close proximity to site. 

 

 

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 38 of 75



Event Sanctioning Information Page 5 Version 1.0 

Sanctioning Options 

There are two ways the PNWBA sanction events, Option 1 Basic Services and Option 2 – All inclusive. 
These are described over the next two pages.  

Option 1 – Basic Services 

This option means that you organize all the major aspects of the BBQ Competition to the minimum 
standards required by the PNWBA prior to the day. Including but not limited to facilities, amenities, 
trophies, insurance and permits. 

On the day the PNWBA will run the competition including all competitive aspects including set-up, rule 
adherence and judging. The sanctioning means that the event is recognized in an official capacity and if 
the event meets the minimum team numbers, winners can use this towards National and International 
events as well as the annual PNWBA rankings. The event is marketed to PNWBA member teams.  

The PNWBA Board appoints a contact point who will communicate your event to the Board, web master 
and teams to facilitate clear communications and success of your event. 

Option 2 – All inclusive 

The all inclusive option means that the PNWBA primarily coordinates the BBQ competition within the 
space provided for your event. This is done in close cooperation with you.  

The event coordination includes the management of teams prior to and on the day including application 
form and fee collection. The money collected from the teams is responsible for the cost the BBQ 
Competition, including judging, trophies, insurance, consumables and similar. 

It is your responsibility to provide a fully functional and licensed area to hold the event including 
appropriate water, ash collection, garbage disposal and similar. 

What does PNWBA provide for sanctioning my event? 

Whichever sanctioning option you select on the day(s) of your competition the PNWBA will provide... 

An onsite PNWBA representative as a point of contact for team coordination and the head judge who 
will together help ensure your event runs smoothly. 

They are responsible for the following activities at the event: 

 Facilitate team load in and load out 

 Team competition, safety and meat inspection on set-up 

 Conduct cooks meeting 

 Conduct judges/table captain meetings 

 Provide and distribute competition and judging resources 
(including turn-in boxes, paper, pens, napkins, judging forms and similar) 

 Supervise the entire judging process 

 Enforce PNWBA rules and regulations at the event 

 Verify and distribute scores at the end of the event 

 Help with event organizer distribute trophies/ribbons, prize money through the awards 
ceremony. 

 

 

  

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 39 of 75



Event Sanctioning Information Page 6 Version 1.0 

 

Basic Services All Inclusive
Organizer handles registration and collects entry fees, and pays PNWBA 

for services and expenses

PNWBA collects event entry fees to be used to cover the costs of the 

competition

Application Fee $100 non-refundable $100 non-refundable

$300 - 1 to 19 teams Covered by fees collected

Sanctioning Fee $350 - 20-39 teams

$400 - 40+ teams

Extra Food Categories $25 per category Covered by fees collected

Prize money must be guaranteed 70 days prior Prize money but be guaranteed 70 days prior

Prize money forwarded to PNWBA

2 weeks prior to the event

Prize money forwarded to PNWBA

2 weeks prior to the event
PNWBA Representative The board will appoint an event coordinator The board will allocate a board contact

Trophies and Ribbons Organizer to purchase in accordance

with payout schedule

Covered by fees collected

Coordinated by the PNWBA
Marketing to teams Will post your flyer and help design if required Will create and post event flyer

Publicize through PNWBA website and newsletter Publicize through PNWBA website and newsletter

Team registration Collect event's registration paperwork and money Registration and money collected by PNWBA 

2 weeks prior to the event

Insurance
Must coordinate and pay for own

 insurance for the event

Provide insurance 

A copy of certificate of insurance can be provided if required

Head Judge Staff* Head judge(s) to staff and run the event Head judge(s) to staff and run the event

1 head judge  -  1 to 19 teams 1 head judge  -  1 to 19 teams

2 head judges  -  20 to 39 teams 2 head judges  -  20 to 39 teams

3 head judges  -  40+ teams 3 head judges  -  40+ teams

Judging System
Use of PNWBA's propriety rules and scoring system for the event. 

Including computer, program, barcodes, scanner and printer

Use of PNWBA's propriety rules and scoring system for the event. 

Including computer, program, barcodes, scanner and printer

Head Judge(s) Expenses
Must provide airfare and/or ground travel including personal 

mileage as per IRS rate at the time of the event**

Must provide lodging for the head  judge

General Judges Recruit and schedule certified judges Recruit and schedule certified judges

Judging Supplies PNWBA provides PNWBA provides

* Second and third head judges may be in head-judges-in-training, or PNWBA-certified assistants.

** Current (2011) IRS mileage rate is 50¢ per mile.

Sanctioning Method

Event 

Coordination

Judging

( A minimum number of teams is 

required to cover expenses)

Covered in fees collected

Prize Money

Fees and 

Monies

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 40 of 75



PNWBA COMPETITION INSTRUCTIONS FOR COOKS - 2013 

COMPETITION EVENT RULES

COOKING
TEAM

•	 Each	team	must	have	a	designated	Head	Cook,	who	may	not	participate	competitively	with	other	teams	
nor	enter	more	than	one	team	in	the	same	event.		Each	team	is	responsible	for	making	themselves	
familiar	with	the	specific	rules	for	each	event,	such	that	they	arrive	at	the	event	prepared	to	comply	with	
the	requirements.

•	 The	Head	Cook	is	responsible	for	the	team’s	adherence	to	the	event’s	rules	and	the	PNWBA’s	Rules	of	
Conduct,	and	timely	submission	of	the	team’s	entries.

•	 The	PNWBA	strongly	recommends	that	at	least	one	team	member	have	a	current	food	handlers	permit.	
It	is	required	in	some	jurisdictions	where	contests	are	held.

•	 Shirts,	pants,	shorts,	kilts,	etc.,	and	shoes	are	required	to	be	worn	by	all	team	members.

COOKING
AREA

•	 Teams	will	be	assigned	a	cooking	space.		All	equipment	must	fit	within	the	assigned	space.
•	 Whenever	possible,	teams	should	arrange	their	cooksites	in	such	a	way	that	teams,	their	visitors	and	the	
public	are	prevented	from	making	contact	with	hot	cook	pits.

•	 Teams	must	provide	their	own	cooking	equipment	and	supplies.	
•	 Teams	requiring	electricity	must	provide	their	own	power,	unless	it	is	offered	by	the	venue.
•	 Each	team	must	maintain	a	clean	cooking	area.
•	 Each	team’s	cook	site	must	have	an	approved	2A40BC	or	3A40BC	(or	larger)	fire	extinguisher	with	
either	a	receipt	of	purchase	or	a	service	tag	showing	certification	less	than	12	months	old.		The	needle	
on	the	extinguisher’s	gauge	must	be	in	the	green	area.

•	 Each	team	must	have	a	hand	wash	station	with	free	flowing	warm	water,	soap	and	catch	basin.
•	 Each	team	must	have	a	sanitizing	bleach	bucket	with	towel	(1	teaspoon	bleach	to	1	gallon	water).		Teams	
are	strongly	encouraged	to	use	test	strips	for	ensuring	the	proper	strength	of	cleaning	solution.

•	 Each	team	must	also	have	a	three-tub	“wash,	rise	and	sanitize”	cleaning	system,	utilizing	a	sanitiz-
ing	solution	(1	teaspoon	bleach	to	1	gallon	water)	for	general	cleanup	and	washing	of	dishes,	cutting	
boards,	etc.	Up	to	three	teams	can	share	an	adjoining	centrally-located	wash	station.

•	 The	use	of	disposable	gloves,	hair	restraints,	and	any	other	similar	protective	items	is	strongly recom-
mended	to	help	maintain	good	hygiene	and	a	germ-free	work	area.		Health	departments	require	these	
sanitation	measures	when	handling	food	ready	to	eat,	i.e.,	vending	at	event,	public	sampling,	etc.

•	 Pets	are	at	no	time	allowed	in	the	cooking/food	preparation	area.
•	 All	materials	and	garbage	must	be	disposed	of	by	the	team.	Each	team’s	entire	assigned	area	must	be	
cleaned	at	the	end	of	the	event.

COOKER •	 Each	team	will	provide	a	pit	or	pits	to	be	used	exclusively	by	that	team	within	the	team’s	assigned	cooking	
space.	No	cooking	of	food	entries	from	two	or	more	teams	are	allowed	in	the	same	pit(s)	at	the	same	time.	

•	 The	heat	source	for	cooking	the	competitive	foods	must	be	from	charcoal,	wood,	and/or	wood	pellets.		Gas	
or	electric	is	allowed	for	the	heating	of	water	or	sauces.

•	 No	gas	or	electric	grills	are	permitted,	unless	the	event	coordinator	or	head	judge	has	stipulated	other-
wise	for	preparing	Special	Categories.

•	 Electric	accessories	–	such	as	spits,	augers,	or	forced	draft	–	are	permitted.
•	 Teams	are	reminded	that	they	should	utilize	a	protective	barrier	under	their	pits	to	keep	grease,	ash,	
etc.,	off	the	ground	at	the	event	venue.

DISQUALIFYING
ACTIONS

•	 Violation	of	the	PNWBA	Rules	of	Conduct	by	teams	or	their	visitors	can	result	in	immediate	disqualifica-
tion	from	the	event	by	the	Head	Judge	of	the	event.

•	 The	use	of	gas	or	other	auxiliary	heat	sources	inside	the	pit	is	not	allowed.	In	addition	to	immediate	disquali-
fication	from	the	event,	the	team	and	its	members	may	be	banned	from	competing	in	future	PNWBA	events.

•	 Disqualification	penalties/duration	will	be	determined	by	the	PNWBA	Board	within	30	days	of	the	event	
in	question;	otherwise	the	disqualification	shall	not	exceed	30	days	from	that	event.

COPYRIGHT		©		PACIFIC	NORTHWEST	BARBECUE	ASSOCIATION.		ALL	RIGHTS	RESERVED
__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 41 of 75



COMPETITION FOOD RULES

INSPECTION •	 All	competition	foods	must	be	presented	for	inspection	during	a	site	visit	at	the	beginning	of	the	
event	before	food	preparation	work	can	commence.	All	on-site	team	containers	will	be	inspected.

•	 At	their	discretion	the	Head	Judge	or	designee	can	return	to	your	cooksite	at	any	time	during	a	contest.
•	 The	Head	Judge	shall	make	the	final	decision	as	to	whether	any	competitive	food	product	is	to	be	
allowed.

These items will 
be reviewed  
during inspection:

Competition	Meats May	not	be	pre-cooked,	marinated,	cured,	etc.,	prior	to	the	food	inspection,	un-
less	the	event	coordinator	has	stipulated	otherwise.		Meats	may	be	pre-trimmed

Cooler	Temperature Ensure	all	coolers	contain	enough	ice	to	maintain	safe	food	temperatures.
Fire	extinguisher Required	at	each	cooksite;	receipt	or	certificate;	needle	in	green.
Digital	meat		
thermometer

To	ensure	that	the	meats	are	at	the	proper	temperature

Dish	wash	station 3	basins,	dish	soap,	bottle	of	bleach
Hand	wash	station Hot	water,	free	flowing	spigot,	catch	bucket	underneath
Bleach	bucket Bucket	with	sanitizing	solution,	cloth	cleaning	rag
Extra	contests Determine	if	team	is	participating	in	additional	categories;	inspection	of	foods	for	

special	categories;	compliance	of	turn-in	container	with	contest	rules
•	 Teams	with	Incomplete/unsatisfactory	inspections	will	not	be	issued	turn-in	boxes/bar	codes	at	
cooks	meeting	until	requirements	have	been	met.

FOOD
PREPARATION

•	 Following	inspection,	all	storage,	preparation,	seasoning,	cooking,	finishing	and	boxing	of	competi-
tion	foods	(excluding	garnish)	shall	be	done	within	a	team’s	cooking	site.		All	equipment	related	to	
the	preparation	and	cooking	of	the	competition	foods	shall	be	contained	within	the	boundaries	of	the	
team’s	assigned	cooking	site,	as	defined	for	that	event	by	the	coordinator.	Other	than	pre-trimming	
of	competition	meats,	food	preparation	away	from	the	space	is	not	allowed.

•	 If	the	event	allows	an	RV	or	enclosed	trailer	within	a	team’s	designated	cooking	site,	the	RV	or	
trailer	are	subject	to	inspection	by	the	Head	Judge	or	his/her	designee.

•	 All	meats	must	be	held	at	safe	temperatures	–	before	cooking,	meat	must	be	on	ice	or	refrigerated	
so	that	the	meat	maintains	a	temperature	of 40°F or less;	after	cooking,	meat	must	be	maintained	
at	a	minimum	temperature	of 141°F.	

MEATS,
GENERALLY

•	 All	teams	are	to	supply	their	own	competition	foods,	unless	otherwise	specified.
•	 For	“qualifier	events,”	only	the	four	traditional	meat	categories	–	Pork	Butt,	Beef	Brisket,	Chicken	
and		Pork	Ribs	–	will	be	used	to	determine	the	Grand	Champion.

•	 Some	events	feature	other	competitive	foods;	check	with	Head	Judge	or	event	coordinator/promoter	
to	see	if	these	food	categories	count	in	determining	the	scoring	for	that	event.

COOKS MEETING AGENDA

Team Roll Call

Welcome!

Introductions:
•	Head	Judge(s)	
•	Event	Organizer	 •	Sponsor
•	Event	helpers	 	 •	Description
•	Number	of	teams/qualifier?
•	Prize	money/#	of	places	paid

Venue Information
Location	overview/where	to	find:	
•	Fresh	water	supply	 •	Ash	disposal
•	Garbage	disposal	
•	Gray	water	disposal	 •	Restrooms
Matching Mentors With New Teams

Review Of The Cooks Rules
(if	you	already	have	copy	of	current	rules,	
bring	them	to	meeting)

Explanation Of Categories
•	Judging	criteria
•	Turn-in	container(s)

Official Notification
•	Turn-in	location								•	Turn-in	times
•	Synchronize	cooks	with		
			official	atomic	clock

In Closing
•	Questions	and	answers
•	How/where	to	find	or	contact	Head	
Judge	or	the	event	organizer

Distribution Of Barcodes, Boxes, 
Special Category Containers

Extra Assistance For New Teams

Attendance by at least  
one team member at the event  
Cook’s Meeting is mandatory.

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 42 of 75



COMPETITION MEATS

REGULAR
COMPETITION
(overnight)

TRADITIONAL 
MEATS ALLOWED

PRESENTATION

WHOLE SLICED
CHOP/PULL 

CUBED
Pork	Butt Boston	butt,	picnic	or	whole	shoulder	-	uncooked	

weight	of	at	least	five	pounds	going	into	the	pit.
Must	be	cooked	in	its	entirety	–	bone	in	or	bone	
out	–	and	may	not	be	parted	out	during	cooking.
After	being	parted	out,	the	butt	may	not	be	put	
back	into	the	cooker	until	after	pork	turn-in.

X X

Beef	Brisket Whole	or	flats	of	any	size;	no	corned	beef. X X

Presented in  
PNWBA-provided
9”x9” display box

Chicken Cut-up	whole,	mixed	assortment	or	all	the	same
pieces,	Cornish	game	hen	halves	or	parts

X X

Pork	Ribs Spare	/	side	ribs	or	baby	back	/	loin	ribs
(not	“country-style”)

X

LITE
COMPETITION
(one-day)

OPTIONAL 
MEATS ALLOWED

PRESENTATION

WHOLE SLICED CHOP/PULL

Beef	Tri-tip Whole X
Salmon Can	be	submitted	as	single	uncut	slab	or	cut	into

a	minimum	of	6	pieces
X X

Presented in  
PNWBA-provided
9”x9” display box

Sausage Links	or	sausage	patties,	individual	cooked	
pieces	or	larger	pieces	sliced.		
(Refer to PNWBA Sausage addendum)

X X

Competition
meat,	other

Prior	to	the	cookoff,	information	is	available	on	
the	website/flyer.	Criteria	will	be	also	announced	
at	Cooks	meeting

X

GARNISH

GENERALLY •	 Garnish	is	optional.
•	 Garnish	must	not	extend	beyond	edges	of	box.

ALLOWED IN
CONTAINER

•	 Leaves	of	the	following	lettuce:	green	leaf,	butter,	romaine,	iceberg
•	 Flat	leaf	(Italian)	parsley	or	common	curly	parsley

NOT ALLOWED 
IN CONTAINER

•	 Kale,	cabbage,	endive,	red-tipped	lettuce,	or	any	other	leafy	greens
•	 Cilantro,	dill	weed,	thyme,	rosemary,	sage,	or	any	other	herbs
•	 Flowers,	decorative	leaves,	sliced/carved	vegetables	or	fruit,	or	other	vegetative	miscellany
•	 Toothpicks,	skewers,	foil,	brush	bristles,	or	other	foreign	non-food	materials

ENTRY REQUIREMENTS

•	 The	turn-in	schedule	and	official	clock	time	are	announced	at	the	Cook’s	meeting	and	posted	at	the	turn-in	area.
•	 There	is	no	public	notification	of	approaching	entry	turn-in	times.	Teams	are	responsible	for	turning	in	their	entries	on	time.
•	 The	designated	turn-in	table	for	entries	opens	at	5	minutes	prior	to	the	announced	turn-in	time,	and	closes	at	4:59	minutes	
after	the	posted	turn-in	time.	Entries	in	line	at	the	table	prior	to	closing	will	be	accepted.	Late	(or	early)	arriving	entries	will	
not	be	accepted.	The official time will be strictly observed.

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 43 of 75



THREE ELEMENTS OF EVALUATION

APPEARANCE Evaluating	eye-appeal	components	of	color,	arrangement,	slice/trim,	moist	appearance,	etc.,	and
adherence	to	PNWBA	rules	of	entire	meat	presentation.

TENDERNESS/
TEXTURE

Evaluating	meat’s	texture,	based	on	judge’s	sample	bites,	to	reflect	tender,	chewy,	tough,	moist,
dry,	mushy,	etc.

TASTE Evaluating	overall	flavor	of	entry,	based	on	judge’s	sample	bites,	to	reflect	pleasant	taste,	balance
of	meat/smoke/seasonings,	etc.,	or	taste	faults	(salty,	burned,	creosote,	etc.)

Each element of an entry is evaluated separately, independent of the other element scores.

Comment	cards	are	utilized	at	selected	events	to	provide	feedback	to	cooks.	Cards	allow	judges	to	explain	the	basis	of
their	scores.	Judges	are	instructed	to	comment	on	each	score	element,	and	to	keep	their	notes	very	brief	and	specific.
The	cards	are	provided	to	the	cooks	along	with	the	contest	report	print-out	at	the	end	of	the	event.		(Information about this 
process is available on the PNWBA Comment Card instructional handout.)

COMMENT CARDS

PNWBA	judging	uses	a	double-blind	judging	system	facilitated	by	bar	code	markings.	The	entries	are	given	ID	numbers
as	they	are	entered	into	the	computer	at	the	turn-in	table;	the	numbers	have	no	correlation	to	the	contestants’	identities.
Each	entry	is	evaluated	by	a	table	of	six	judges.	For	its	competition	events,	the	PNWBA	strives	to	use	trained,	certified
BBQ	judges	who	objectively	evaluate	the	food	entries,	in	accordance	with	PNWBA	guidelines,	to	the	best	of	their	ability.
A	table	generally	judges	between	4–8	entries	per	food	category.	Entries	are	not	compared	or	ranked	against	each	other.

JUDGING METHOD

ENTRY PRESENTATION

REQUIRED •	 Competitive	food	entries	must	be	submitted	in	event-supplied	presentation	containers	unless		
otherwise	stipulated.

•	 Minimum	of	six,	separate,	identifiable	food	portions	MUST	be	submitted.	All	portions	must	be	visible	
when	the	box	is	opened	for	appearance	scoring.

•	 In	the	case	of	pulled	or	chopped	meat,	there	needs	to	be	a	sufficient	amount	for	each	judge	to	take	
a	sample.

•	 Teams	can	submit	more	than	the	minimum	six	portions.	(Extra	meat	can	cover	portion	shortage	due	
to	incomplete	slicing,	etc.,	and	provides	food	for	event	staff	–	table	captains,	volunteers,	etc.).

•	 Meat	can	be	presented	in	more	than	one	style	(judges	will	evaluate	no	more	than	three	styles,		
then	average	scores).

NOT ALLOWED •	 Containers	of	sauce	or	pooling	(sauce	flows	from	meat	on	to	garnish	or	into	bottom	of	box,	or	sits	
in	pools	on	top	of	the	meat),	or	sauce	poured,	squirted	or	squiggled	onto	meat	to	create	a	pattern.	
Sauce	submitted	must	be	attached	to	meat.

•	 Marking	or	sculpting	of	food	that	could	identify	the	cook/team.
•	 Identifying	or	distinguishing	marks	placed	in	or	on	the	container	by	contestant.

Entries not complying with these requirements for meat, garnish or foreign objects
will result in the Head Judge directing all six judges to give a DQ score of “1” for appearance.

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 44 of 75



 THREE ELEMENTS OF EVALUATION 

APPEARANCE 
Evaluating eye-appeal components of color, arrangement, slice/trim, moist appearance, etc., and 
adherence to PNWBA rules of entire meat presentation. 

TENDERNESS/ 
TEXTURE 

Evaluating meat’s texture, based on judge’s sample bites, to reflect tender, chewy, tough, moist, 
dry, mushy, etc. 

TASTE 
Evaluating overall flavor of entry, based on judge’s sample bites, to reflect pleasant taste, balance 
of meat/smoke/seasonings, etc., or taste faults (salty, burned, creosote, etc.) 

Each element of an entry is evaluated separately, independent of the other element scores. 

 

SCORING SYSTEM 

SCORING For every entry, judges provide three element scores (whole-number) using the 10-to-2 rating scale. 

A score of 1 represents a disqualification, resulting from direction by the Head Judge. 

The PNWBA scoring system weights the elements 25% Appearance, 25% Texture, and 50% Taste, with a 
maximum score of 40 points per judge (taste score is doubled). 

The entry score is the total of the five highest judges’ scores (low score thrown out); maximum 200 points,  

WINNERS Winners are determined in each category according to the highest number of points. 

Event champions are determined by adding together each team’s judging scores from all qualifying 
contest categories.  Highest total score is Grand Champion, second highest is Reserve Champion. 

 

SCORING RANGE 

GOOD AVERAGE BAD  

SCORE 10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 

 
1* 

Means: Out- 
standing 

Great  Good  Slightly 
above 

average 

Average, 
ok 

Slightly 
below 

average 

Faulted Significantly 
faulted 

Awful, 
inedible 

Technical 
DQ* 

                      * Given only by Head Judge ruling 

 
COMMENT CARDS 

Comment cards are utilized at selected events to provide feedback to cooks.  Cards allow judges to explain the basis of 
their scores.  Judges are instructed to comment on each score element, and to keep their notes very brief and specific.  
The cards are provided to the cooks along with the contest report print-out at the end of the event. 

 

 

HANDWASHING STATION DISHWASHING STATION 

  

PNWBA COMPETITION SCORING SYSTEM

BASICS •	 Each	entry	is	evaluated	at	a	table	of	six	judges,	who	provide	scores	for	the	three	elements	of	appear-
ance,	texture	and	taste.		A	judge’s	score	is	the	total	of	his/her	points	given	for	all	three	elements.

•	 The	scoring	range	for	each	element	is	10	(highest)	to	2	(lowest)	points.
•	 A	score	of	1	represents	a	disqualification,	resulting	from	direction	by	the	Head	Judge.

CALCULATING
ENTRY SCORES

•	 The	entry	score	is	the	total	of	the	five	highest	judges’	scores;	the	lowest	score	is	discarded.
•	 The	scoring	system	weights	the	elements:	Appearance-19%,	Texture/Tenderness-30%,	Taste-51%.
•	 The	maximum	possible	score	per	judge	is	40	points.		The	lowest	judge’s	score	is	thrown	out,	thus	
the	highest	possible	total	entry	score	is	200	points	(40	points	x	5	judges).

CATEGORY
WINNERS

Places	are	determined	by	the	order	of	the	judging	points.	The	entry	with	the	highest	total	points	will
take	1st	place	for	that	category,	second	highest	number	of	points	takes	2nd	place,	and	so	on.

CATEGORY
TIE-BREAKER 
PROCESS

If	a	tie	occurs,	the	discarded	low	scores	are	added	back,	and	winners	are	determined	in	this	order:
1.		The	highest	total	points	(appearance	+	texture	+	taste)	from	all	6	judges.
2.		The	highest	total	points	of	TASTE	scores	from	all	6	judges.
3.		The	highest	total	points	of	TEXTURE/TENDERNESS	scores	from	all	6	judges.
4.		The	highest	total	points	of	APPEARANCE	scores	from	all	6	judges.
5.		Decided	by	the	Computer	using	a	random	number	generator.

DETERMINATION
OF CHAMPIONS

Grand	Champion,	Reserve	Champion	and	other	overall	places	are	determined	by	adding	together	
each	team’s	judging	scores	from	all	qualifying	contest	categories.	The	highest	accumulated	team	
score	will	be	awarded	Grand	Champion,	the	second	highest	accumulated	team	score	will	be	Reserve	
Champion,	and	so	forth.

CHAMPION
TIE-BREAKERS

In	case	of	ties	for	the	overall	awards	such	as	Grand	Champion,	Reserve	Champion,	third	place	and	so	
on,	ties	will	be	broken	using	the	same	process	as	the	Category	Tie	Breakers.

SCORING RANGE

BETTER AVERAGE WORSE
SCORE: 10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1

Means:
Outstanding Great Good Slightly	

above	
average

Average,	
OK

Slightly	
below	
average

Faulted Significantly	
faulted

Awful,	
inedible

Technical	
DQ*

* Given only by Head Judge ruling

HANDWASHING STATION DISHWASHING STATION

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 45 of 75



PNWBA RULES OF CONDUCT

The	Pacific	Northwest	Barbecue	Association	(PNWBA	)	is	a	non-profit	organization	dedicated	to	the	promotion	and	enjoy-
ment	of	barbecue	in	the	Northwest.		The	PNWBA	is	committed	to	educating	the	public	in	the	furtherance	and	development	of	
authentic	barbecue	knowledge	through	cooking	classes,	judging	classes,	and	competition	barbecue	cooking	events.

Members	of	the	PNWBA	are	all	generally	expected	to	be	good	ambassadors	of	our	organization	at	PNWBA	events,	at	other	
BBQ-related	events,	and	in	the	wider	community	view.	A	member’s	actions	and	behaviors	should	reflect	the	PNWBA’s	core	
values	of	respect,	courtesy	and	good	sportsmanship	at	all	 times,	refraining	from	conduct	which	could	damage,	or	may	be	
detrimental	to,	the	good	of	the	organization.

PNWBA	Events	are	defined	as	any	competition,	cooking	class,	meeting,	and/or	other	gathering	that	was	organized,	sanc-
tioned	or	represented	to	be	associated	with	the	PNWBA,	including	the	Forum	section	of	the	PNWBA	website.

The	Rules	of	Conduct	have	been	set	forth	to	ensure	that	each	and	every	PNWBA	event	 is	a	safe,	friendly	and	respectful	
place	for	members,	teams,	guests,	volunteers,	judges,	Officers,	Board	members	and	the	general	public	to	gather	in	the	spirit	
of	cooperation,	relaxation,	good	will,	fun	and	friendly	competition.		These	rules	apply	to	the	conduct	of	everyone	participating	
in	a	PNWBA	Event	-	either	physically	or	electronically.		The	official	Rules	of	Conduct	shall	be	the	most	recent	version	posted	
on	the	PNWBA	website.

1 - EXPECTED BEHAVIOR

At	all	PNWBA-related	events,	participants	and	their	guests	
will	be	courteous,	respectful	and	professional	 in	 their	deal-
ings	and	communication	with	other	participants.		At	cooking	
events,	 this	expected	conduct	 is	extended	 to	other	 teams,	
their	guests,	the	head	judge,	judges,	event	volunteers,	and	
the	general	public.	

2 – RESPONSIBILITY

As	well	as	being	responsible	for	their	own	behavior,	partici-
pants	are	responsible	for	the	conduct	of	their	guests/invitees	
at	PNWBA	events.	 	During	competitions,	 the	head	cook	 is	
fully	 responsible	 for	 the	 actions	 and	 conduct	 of	 his	 team	
members	and	guests/invitees,	and	for	their	compliance	with	
the	competition	rules	and	these	Rules	of	Conduct.

3 – INTERACTION WITH OTHERS AT PNWBA EVENTS

The	use	of	audible	or	visible	profanities,	lewdness,	or	vulgar-
ity	is	not	allowed.

Interference	with,	unsolicited/unwelcome	contact	with,	or	ha-
rassment	of	other	teams,	their	guests,	the	head	judge,	judg-
es,	event	volunteers,	and	the	general	public	 is	not	allowed	-	
whether	done	physically,	verbally,	electronically,	or	otherwise.

Loud,	derogatory,	insulting	or	otherwise	abusive	language	di-
rected	toward	other	teams,	their	guests,	the	head	judge,	judg-
es,	event	volunteers,	and	the	general	public	is	not	allowed.

4 – ALCOHOL

Excessive	intake	of	alcohol	by	event	participants	and/or	their	
guests,	resulting	in	a	public	display	of	intoxication	disruptive	
to	a	PNWBA	event,	is	not	allowed.		This	will	result	in	the	vio-

lator’s	removal	from	said	event.		In	the	case	of	competitions,	
it	will	result	in	disqualification	and	expulsion	from	the	contest.

Distribution	of	alcohol	by	event	participants	or	 their	guests/
invitees	to	the	general	public	is	not	allowed.

5. ILLEGAL CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES

Any	use	of	illegal	controlled	substances	by	event	participants	
and/or	their	guests	is	not	allowed.	This	will	result	in	the	viola-
tor’s	removal	from	said	event.	In	the	case	of	competitions,	it	
will	result	in	disqualification	and	expulsion	from	the	contest.

6. OTHER UNACCEPTABLE CONDUCT

Unsportsmanlike	misconduct	not	allowed	at	PNWBA	events	
shall	 include	 physical	 confrontations,	 fighting	 or	 disorderly	
conduct;	dishonesty	or	cheating;	and	willful	or	careless	ne-
glect	of	safety	precautions.

Excessive	noise	that	interferes	with	an	event	is	not	allowed.	
This	 includes,	 but	 is	 not	 limited	 to,	music,	TV,	PA	 systems	
through	speakers	or	amplifiers.

Pets	belonging	to	either	participants	or	visitors	are	at	no	time	
allowed	in	a	food	preparation	area.		

At	 contests,	 violation	 of	 the	 PNWBA	 Rules	 of	 Conduct	 by	
teams	or	 their	visitors	can	result	 in	 imediate	disqualification	
from	the	event	by	the	Head	Judge	of	the	event.

Violation	by	PNWBA	members	of	these	Rules	of	Conduct,	or	
other	actions	at	events	that	reflect	negatively	on	the	char-
acter,	integrity,	sportsmanship	and	good	will	of	the	PNWBA,	
may	result	in	the	termination	of	Membership	in	the	PNWBA	
as	provided	under	the	PNWBA	Bylaws	Article	II,	Section	1.

COPYRIGHT		©		PACIFIC	NORTHWEST	BARBECUE	ASSOCIATION.		ALL	RIGHTS	RESERVED

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 46 of 75



 

Agenda Item No: 9B    

 

CITY OF NORTH PLAINS 

31360 NW Commercial Street, North Plains, Oregon 97133 

 

Date:  December 16, 2013 

To:  Mayor and City Council 

From:  City Manager Martha DeBry 

Subject: Approval of city policies Number 360-382 

Request:  Council approve policies Number 360-382 
 
Background:   The draft policy manual was distributed at the 9/16/13 council meeting.   
 
To manage the workload of the reviewing ordinance Council directed that batches of 
policies be presented at a series of meetings. 
 
Policies to be approved on December 16, 2013 are: 
360 Pay Administration 
361 Work Periods / Schedules 
362 Overtime 
363 Leave without pay 
370 Salary Advances 
371 W-4’s 
372 Education and Travel Reimbursements 
380 Vacation Leave 
381 Holiday Leave 
382 Sick Leave 
 
All policies are as previously distributed to Council. 
  
Fiscal Impact:   Review and adoption of the policies has no direct fiscal impact.  
 
Environmental Issues:  No environmental issues are associated with this item. 
 
Recommendation:  All the policies will be approved by one motion after all have been 
reviewed and discussed. 

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 47 of 75



 

Agenda Item No.: 10A   

 

CITY OF NORTH PLAINS 

31360 NW Commercial Street, North Plains, Oregon 97133 

 

Date:  December 16, 2013 

To:  Mayor and City Council 

From:  Martha DeBry, City Manager 

Subject: Vacation of NW Hillcrest Street west of 319th Ave approximately 1100 feet 
to its terminus: File #SV-11-015 

 
HISTORY: The City received an application from Jewett-Cameron Trading Company, 
located at Hillcrest and 319th, to vacate approximately 65,000 sf of NW Hillcrest Street 
west of 319th Avenue. The applicant and the City are requesting this vacation so that 
the applicant may use the vacated portion as a private driveway for their business 
operation and so that the City can forgo maintenance responsibilities of the subject 
portion of NW Hillcrest.   
 
Jewett-Cameron seeks to take over maintenance of the road which becomes potholed 
due to heavy truck traffic, associated with its business.  Hillcrest is a dead end street 
and only serves Jewett-Cameron and ODOT which owns a brownfield site on the south 
side.  (Jewett-Cameron is one of the City’s larger employers, and serves as the holding 
company for Jewett-Cameron, MSI-PRO, Jewett-Cameron Seed Company/Evergreen 
Testing Lab and Greenwood Products Inc.  Sales in 2013 exceeded $49 Million.) 
 
Street vacations and dedications require final approval by City Council Ordinance.  The 
application is being processed as a Land Use file, which requires adjacent property 
notification and compliance with all City and State standards pertaining to Street 
Vacations. Included in Council’s packet is the Planning Commission Staff Report and its 
attachments which demonstrate compliance with City and State standards. No 
comments were received from adjacent property owners in response to public notices 
sent and posted.  An additional public notice was published prior to the December 16, 
2013 hearing. 
 
The Planning Commission approved the vacation on January 11, 2012, with the 
condition of approval that all easements and agreements associated with the vacation 
be coordinated with the City of North Plains, the Oregon Department of Transportation 
(ODOT), and Portland General Electric (PGE). The City has consulted with ODOT and 
PGE, and they are requesting access easements to the proposed vacation area so that 
ODOT can access and maintain their property to the south of the vacation area and so 
that PGE can access their poles in the northern portion of the vacation area.  Access 
would be granted to the City of North Plains for right of entry to the City’s water line and 
hydrant within the subject vacation area.  There are no gas lines or other applicable 
utilities to address in the proposed vacation area.  __________________________________ 

NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 
Monday, December 16, 2013 

Packet Pagination: Page 48 of 75



Jewett-Cameron requested the delay of Council’s consideration of the street vacation, 
as they were in negotiations with ODOT on an unrelated piece of property, and did not 
want two issues to become intertwined.   Recently Don Boone of Jewett-Cameron 
requested that the vacation be completed. 
 
Council’s packet contains the following items associated with the Vacation:  

 Staff Report and attachments (Agency comments, surveys, and legal 
descriptions) previously prepared for the Planning Commission 

 Vacation Ordinance with exhibits (surveys, legal descriptions, and easement 
descriptions) 

 
To complete the vacation the City must find that the proposed vacation will not prejudice 
the public interest and is in the best interest of the City. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: Maintenance for NW Hillcrest west of NW 319th will no longer be 
funded by the City of North Plains.  Jewett- Cameron will be responsible for the north side 
of the vacated street, and ODOT the south side.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends the City Council adopt Ordinance No. _____ 
based upon the findings contained in the staff report to the Planning Commission, public 
testimony, and agency comments, staff recommends City Council approval of the 
Hillcrest Street vacation File # SV-11-015 with the condition of approval that all 
easements and agreements associated with the vacation be coordinated with the City of 
North Plains, the Oregon Department of Transportation, Portland General Electric, and 
any other applicable agencies or adjacent property.   
 
SAMPLE MOTION:  I move to approve the findings related to File #SV-11-015, with the 
condition of approval that all easements and agreements associated with the vacation 
be coordinated with the City of North Plains, the Oregon Department of Transportation, 
Portland General Electric, and any other applicable agencies or adjacent property and 
to read Ordinance No: (____) for the first time by title only. 
 
========================== 
 
Ordinance No: (      ) 
An Ordinance of the City Council of the City of North Plains, Oregon, Vacating a Portion 
of Hillcrest Street West from 319th Street Approximately 1100 Linear Feet with the 
Vacated Area Remaining Subject to Certain Easements In Favor of the City of North 
Plains, Portland General Electric and the Oregon Department of Transportation. 
 
 

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 49 of 75



 
C I T Y  O F  N O R T H  P L A I N S  

P L A N N I N G  C O M M I S S I O N  S T A F F  R E P O R T :  S T R E E T  V A C A T I O N  
 

 
 
APPLICATION: The applicant requests the vacation of approximately 65,700square feet (sf) of NW Hillcrest 
Street west of 319th Avenue, located in the M-2 Zone. 
 
APPLICANT:Jewett-Cameron Lumber Corporation  
 
OWNER: Public road right-of-way (ROW) which abuts taxlot 1N2010003700 to the south (owned by the 
Oregon Department of Transportation— ODOT), 1N301CA01700 and 1N301CB00100 to the North 
(owned by Jewett-Cameron Lumber Corporation, the applicant), 1N301CB00101 to the west (owned by 
Debra Kruger), and 1N301CB01200 to the west (owned by Burlington Northern Railroad Company)  
 
PUBLIC HEARING:January 11, 2012 before the North Plains Planning Commission - recommended approval 

February 6, 2012 before the North Plains City Council 
 
 
 

I. APPLICABLE CRITERIA 
 

A. Chapter 16.60 Street Vacations and Dedications 

B. Chapter 16.80 Public Notice Requirements  

C. Chapter 16.82 Public Hearings Before the Planning Commission 

D. Chapter 16.83 Review and Public Hearings Before Council 

E. Chapter 16.87Final Action on Permit Application Within 120 Days  
F. Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS) Chapter 271.080 - 271.150 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 50 of 75



II. FINDINGS OF FACT 

 
A. LOCATION: Approximately 65,700sf of the NW Hillcrest Street right-of-way west of 319th Avenue, 

more particularly described as a portion of ROW adjoining Tax Lots1N301CA01700, 

1N301CB00100, 1N2010003700, 1N301CB00101, and 1N301CB01200 

 

B. EXISTING CONDITIONS: The adjoining land is industrial to the North, West, South, and East. 

Residential properties are located northwest of the intersection of NW 319th Avenue and NW 

Hillcrest Street. Ghost Creek separates NW Hillcrest from tax lots 1N301CB00101 to the west 

(owned by Debra Kruger) and 1N301CB01200 to the west (owned by Burlington Northern 

Railroad Company); these properties are accessed via Gordon Road. Only taxlots 1N2010003700 

(owned by ODOT), 1N301CA01700, and 1N301CB00100 (owned by Jewett-Cameron Lumber 

Corporation, the applicant), are accessible via the proposed vacation area of NW Hillcrest.  

 

C. BACKGROUND: The City and the applicant wish to vacate the subject portion of NW Hillcrest 

Street so that the applicant may use the vacated portion as private driveway for their business 

operation on taxlots 1N301CA01700 and 1N301CB00100and so that the city can forgo 

maintenance responsibilities of the subject portion of NW Hillcrest. The applicant has previously 

initiated street vacations for NW Wascoe Street to the north of their property. 

 

D. AVAILABILITY OF PUBLIC SERVICES:  There is an existing waterline and a fire hydrant on the subject 

portion of NW Hillcrest Street. Pacific Gas and Electric (PGE) also maintains five poles and four 

cobra head street lights on the subject portion of NW Hillcrest Street.  

 

III. PUBLIC TESTIMONY & AGENCY COMMENTS 

Comments received from affected public agencies (as of 12/29/2011) include:  

 Comments from the City’s Public Works Director, dated December 20, 2011, stating that the City 

should retain the right to access the waterline within the proposed vacation area, that ODOT 

should retain the right to use the road for access to their property south of the proposed 

vacation area, and that Pacific Gas and Electric (PGE) should retain access to their structures 

within the proposed vacation area.  

 North Plains Police Chief—No objection/no comments  

 Washington County Department of Land Use & Transportation—No objection/no comments 

 Washington County Fire District #2—No objection/no comments 

 
 
 

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 51 of 75



IV. CODE CRITERIA REVIEW & FINDINGS 

Chapter 16.60 Street Vacations and Dedications 
 
16.60.010 Description 
That the public right-of-way described in the Deed of Dedication and shown on the accompanying map 
attached hereto as Exhibit A, is a public street in the City of North Plains, Washington County, Oregon, 
and that the same be and hereby is vacated under the terms of ORS Chapter 271. 
 

Findings:  The applicant has provided a legal description and maps of the right-of-way area to be 
vacated, found in Attachment A. The proposed vacation is being administered under the terms of ORS 
Chapter 271. 

 
16.60.020 Filing 
That the City Recorder be and hereby is instructed to file a certified copy of this Ordinance with the 
County Clerk of Washington County, and the County Surveyor of Washington County under the terms 
and provisions of ORS chapter 271, in order to facilitate the correction of the County Tax Maps. 
 

Findings: If the proposed street vacation is approved by City Council, by ordinance, the City Recorder of 
North Plains will file a certified copy of the ordinance with the County Clerk and County Surveyor of 
Washington County as required by statute and to facilitate correction of the county tax maps. 

 
16.60.030 Community Safety 
It is necessary and desirable for the peace, health and safety of the citizens of North Plains for the 
purpose of providing suitable and appropriate protection of property owners, that this ordinance shall 
be effective immediately upon passage by the Council and approved by the Mayor, and an emergency 
is declared to exist. 
 

Findings: The City finds that the public interest will not be prejudiced by the street vacation based on 
the findings in this report. The applicant wishes to vacate a largely unused portion of NW Hillcrest Street 
for use as a private driveway in conjunction with their business operation abutting the proposed 
vacation, and the City wishes to forgo the maintenance burden of the proposed vacation area.   

 

Chapter 16.80 Public Notice Requirements, Chapter 16.82 Public Hearings Before the Planning 
Commission, Chapter 16.83 Review and Public Hearings Before Council, Chapter 16.87Final Action on 
Permit Application Within 120 Days  
 

Findings: Proper notice of a public hearing, application procedures, and public hearings procedures 
before the North Plains Planning Commission and the North Plains City Council are being administered 
in accordance with Chapters 16.80, 16.82, 16.83, and 16.87. Notice of a public hearing has been 
published in the Hillsboro Argus, posted at the proposed vacation site, mailed to property owners within 
250feet of the site, and to affected public agencies.  Public notice documents are available on request. 

 

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 52 of 75



ORS Chapter 271.080-271.130 
Summary of ORS Chapter 271.080-271.130Requirements:  

 The Vacation shall be initiated by the City or by a petition of abutting property owners 

 The petition is filed with the city recorder and must describe the grounds to be vacated, the 

purpose for which the proposed vacation is to be used, and the reason for such vacation  

 Notice of the formal hearings for consideration of the vacation shall be made in the city 

newspaper once each week for two consecutive weeks prior to the hearing; a notice of the 

vacation proposal shall be posted at least two conspicuous places in the proposed vacation 

area 

 The governing body, by ordinance, shall make a determination to vacate the subject street 

area 

Findings: The subject vacation is being initiated by the City so that the applicant may use the 
proposed vacation area as a private driveway and so that the city can forgo maintenance 
responsibilities of the subject portion of NW Hillcrest. In accordance with the above statutes, 
the Planning Commission and City Council are scheduled to hold public hearings for the 
proposed vacation on January 11, 2012 and February 6, 2012.  Notice of the Planning 
Commission hearing was published in the Hillsboro Argus on December 27, 2011 and January 3, 
2011, and notices were posted at the proposed vacation site. The city is also interpreting lack of 
comment from adjacent property owners as consent for the proposed vacation.  

  

V. ATTACHMENTS  
A. Surveys and legal descriptions of the proposed vacation area  
B. Agency referral comments from the City’s Public Works Director  

 
VI. CONCLUSION & RECOMMENDATION 
 

Conclusion: The City finds that the street vacation request is appropriate so that the vacation 
area may be used as a private driveway in conjunction with the applicant’s business ands that 
the city can forgo maintenance responsibilities of the subject portion of NW Hillcrest. The city 
also finds that the proposed vacation will not prejudice the public interest.  
 
Recommendation: Based upon the findings contained in this staff report, public testimony, and 
agency comments, staff recommends Planning Commission approval of the Hillcrest Street 
vacation File # SV-11-015 with the condition that all easements and agreements be coordinated 
with the City of North Plains, the Oregon Department of Transportation, and Pacific Gas and 
Electric.  
 
Sample Motion:  Move to adopt the findings contained within this Staff Report and approve   
File #SV-11-015 
 
Prepared and Submitted By: Angie Lehnert, Assistant Planner  

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 53 of 75



__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 54 of 75



__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 55 of 75



__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 56 of 75



__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 57 of 75



__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 58 of 75



__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 59 of 75



__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 60 of 75



__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 61 of 75



__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 62 of 75



ORDINANCE NO. ______ 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, 
OREGON, VACATING A PORTION OF HILLCREST STREET WEST FROM 319TH 

STREET APPROXIMATELY 1100 LINEAR FEET WITH THE VACATED AREA 
REMAINING SUBJECT TO CERTAIN EASEMENTS IN FAVOR OF THE CITY OF 
NORTH PLAINS, PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC AND THE OREGON 
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION. 
 
 
WHEREAS, the City of North Plains believes it appropriate to vacate that portion of 
Hillcrest Street between 319th Avenue to its terminus - a distance of approximately 1100 
linear feet - and is authorized to commence such action by the terms of ORS 271.130; 
 
WHEREAS, the City posted and published notice for a hearing before the Council on the 
proposed vacation consistent with the requirements of ORS 271.110 as required by ORS 
271.130; 
  
WHEREAS, a public hearing before the North Plains City Council was held on December 
16th, 2013;  
 
WHEREAS, none of the owners of the area affected by the vacation objected thereto; 
 
WHEREAS, the City Recorder has determined (and filed a certificate with the office of the 
City Recorder manifesting same) that all city liens and all taxes have been satisfied on 
the lands covered by the area to be vacated. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, based on the foregoing, the City of North Plains ordains as follows: 
 

Section 1. That the portion of Hillcrest Street described and shown in 
Exhibits “A” and “B” within the City of North Plains, 
Washington County, Oregon, be and the same hereby is 
vacated as of January 1, 2014 subject to: 
 the terms of a utility easement in favor of the City of North 

Plains in a form substantially akin to that shown on Exhibit 
“C”; 

 an access easement for the Oregon Department of 
Transportation in a form substantially similar to that shown 
on Exhibit “D”;  

 the terms of a utility easement in favor of Portland General 
Electric in a form substantially similar to the one attached 
hereto as Exhibit “E” 

 

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 63 of 75



Section 2. The City Recorder is directed to file a copy of this Ordinance 
with the Washington County Clerk consistent with ORS 
271.230 

 
Section 3. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall become effective within 

thirty days from the date of adoption. 
 
 INTRODUCED for first reading on the 16th day of December, 
2013, for second reading AND ADOPTION this 6th day of January, 2014.  
 
 CITY OF NORTH PLAINS, OREGON 
 
 
 

 By:  _____________________________________ 
 David Hatcher, Mayor 
 
 
 ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 By:  _____________________________________ 
 Margaret L. Reh, Deputy City Recorder 
 

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 64 of 75



__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 65 of 75

mreh
Typewritten Text
Exhibit

mreh
Typewritten Text

mreh
Typewritten Text

mreh
Typewritten Text

mreh
Typewritten Text
  

mreh
Typewritten Text
A



__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 66 of 75

mreh
Typewritten Text

mreh
Typewritten Text

mreh
Typewritten Text

mreh
Typewritten Text
A

mreh
Typewritten Text

mreh
Typewritten Text

mreh
Typewritten Text
(North)



__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 67 of 75

mreh
Typewritten Text
Exhibit B



__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 68 of 75

mreh
Typewritten Text
Exhibit Map B

mreh
Typewritten Text

mreh
Typewritten Text
(South)

mreh
Typewritten Text



__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 69 of 75



__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 70 of 75



__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 71 of 75



2013 Building Permits Year to Date (12/6/13)

PROJECT # PERMIT # APPLICANT ADDRESS RECEIVED In URA

1 13-002 01 Vince Biggi 11197 NW 317th Place 01/29/13

2 13-003 01 Cottage Pointe 10483 NW 320th 02/06/13

3 13-004 01 Cottage Pointe 10497 NW 320th 02/06/13

4 13-005 01 Signature Homebuilders 31525 NW Cottage St 02/08/13

5 13-010 1 Vince Biggi 11225 NW 317th Place 02/20/13

6 13-011 1 Vince Biggi 11195 NW 317th Place 02/20/13

7 13-012 1 Cottage Pointe 31879 NW Pacific Street 02/21/13

8 13-013 1 Cottage Pointe 31887 NW Pacific Street 02/21/13

9 13-017 1 DR Horton 10095 NW 307th Avenue 03/20/13 Yes

10 13-017 2 DR Horton 10111 NW 307th Avenue 03/20/13 Yes

11 13-017 3 DR Horton 10073 NW 307th Avenue 03/20/13 Yes

12 13-017 4 DR Horton 10065 NW 307th Avenue 03/20/13 Yes

13 13-017 6 DR Horton 10035 NW Curtis Street 05/10/13 Yes

14 13-017 7 DR Horton 10043 NW Curtis Street 05/10/13 Yes

15 13-017 8 DR Horton 10055 NW Curtis Street 05/10/13 Yes

16 13-017 9 DR Horton 10023 NW Curtis Street 05/11/13 Yes

17 13-017 10 DR Horton 10021 NW 307th Avenue 05/29/13 Yes

18 13-017 11 DR Horton 10040 NW Curtis Street 07/24/13 Yes

19 13-017 12 DR Horton 10063 NW Curtis Street 07/24/13 Yes

20 13-017 14 DR Horton 10075 NW Curtis Street 08/21/13 Yes

21 13-017 15 DR Horton 10090 NW Curtis Street 09/23/13 Yes

22 13-017 16 DR Horton 10027 NW 307th Avenue 09/23/13 Yes

23 13-017 17 DR Horton 10044 NW Curtis Street 09/23/13 Yes

24 13-017 18 DR Horton 10083 NW Curtis Street 10/07/13 Yes

25 13-017 19 DR Horton 10095 NW Curtis Street 10/07/13 Yes

26 13-017 20 DR Horton 10143 NW Curtis Street 10/14/13 Yes

27 13-017 21 DR Horton 10125 NW Curtis Street 11/07/13 Yes

28 13-017 22 DR Horton 10121  NW Curtis Street 11/07/13 Yes

29 13-017 23 DR Horton 10119 NW Curtis Street 11/07/13 Yes

30 13-017 24 DR Horton 10131 NW Curtis Street 11/13/13 Yes

31 13-017 25 DR Horton 10135 NW Curtis Street 11/13/13 Yes

32 13-017 26 DR Horton 10136 NW Curtis Street 11/13/13 Yes

33 13-020 2 Chris Tews 30950 NW Pacific Street 07/16/13

34 13-026 1 Cottage Pointe 10469 NW 320th 06/17/13

35 13-027 1 Cottage Pointe 10455 NW 320th 06/17/13

36 13-028 1 Cottage Pointe 31924 NW Claxtar 06/17/13

37 13-029 1 Cottage Pointe 31928 NW Claxtar 06/17/13

38 13-031 1 Cottage Pointe 31927 NW Pacific St 08/27/13

39 13-032 1 Cottage Pointe 31923 NW Pacific St 08/27/13

40 13-033 1 Cottage Pointe 31897 NW Pacific St 08/27/13

41 13-034 1 Cottage Pointe 31889 NW Pacific St 08/27/13

42 13-038 1 Creekwood Homes 31121 NW Claxtar 09/24/13

43 13-038 2 Creekwood Homes 31218 NW Cottage 09/24/13

44 13-038 3 Creekwood Homes 31127 NW Claxtar 09/24/13

44 homes @ average valuation of $180,000 = $7,920,000

Estimated increase in property taxes annually (2.17%) = $171,864

Estimated URA $4,320,000 $93,744

Estimated General fund $3,600,000 $78,120

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 72 of 75

mreh
Typewritten Text
Agenda Item: 11A

mreh
Typewritten Text



 
 
 
Cities of Banks, Cornelius, Forest Grove, Gaston, Hillsboro, and North Plains  

City Council, City Managers & Other Guests 
&  

State Senators, State Representatives, Metro, and Washington County  
 
 

JOINT LEGISLATIVE DINNER & SESSION 
THURSDAY, JANUARY 23, 2014 
Prime Time, 4450 Pacific Avenue 

 

5:30 pm – Social (Conference Room) 
6:00 pm – Dinner (Conference Room) 

7:00 pm – Session (Conference Room) 
 
 

This is an informal dinner and legislative training session hosted by City of Forest Grove and invited guests to conduct 
a Joint Western Washington County Legislative Session.  No formal business will be conducted. 
 

 

 
AGENDA SESSION 

 
 

   

5:30 pm   Social 5:30 p.m.  ~ Dinner at 6:00 p.m.  
Prime Time, 4450 Pacific Avenue, Conference Room  

   
 7:00 pm
  

1. Call Session to Order ~ Welcome: Mayor Truax will call the session to 
order. 

   

 2. Introductions:  Mayor Truax will introduce and welcome each speaker.  

 3. Presentations (5-minutes each): 

  • Legislative ~ Senators & Representatives Updates 
   

  • Metro ~ Council Update 
   

  • Washington County ~ Board of Commissioners Update 
   

  • Mayors ~ City Updates   
   
 4. Open Discussion:  
   

8:00 pm 5. Adjournment: 
 

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 73 of 75

mreh
Typewritten Text
Agenda Item No: 11A

mreh
Typewritten Text

mreh
Typewritten Text

mreh
Typewritten Text

mreh
Typewritten Text
 (Staff Report)



Delete? Organization First Name Last Name Title Address City ST Zip Number Email
Term 

Expires

Local 

Focus

Flag 

Email

Leg. 

Contact

North Plains Blake Boyles PW - Public Works Director 31360 NW Commercial St North Plains OR 97133 503-647-5555 blake@northplains.org X X

North Plains Michael Broome CP - Council Person (Councilor) 31360 NW Commercial St North Plains OR 97133 503-647-5555 michael_broome@northplains.org 12/31/2014 X

North Plains Martha DeBry CM - City Manager 31360 NW Commercial St North Plains OR 97133 503-647-5555 martha@northplains.org X

North Plains Martha DeBry PD - Planning Director 31360 NW Commercial St North Plains OR 97133 503-647-5555 martha@northplains.org X

North Plains Michael Demagalski CP - Council Person (Councilor) 31360 NW Commercial St North Plains OR 97133 503-647-5555 michael_demagalski@northplains.org 12/31/2014 X

North Plains David Hatcher MAY - Mayor 31360 NW Commercial St North Plains OR 97133 503-647-5555 david_hatcher@northplains.org 12/31/2016 X

North Plains Robert Kindel, Jr. CP - Council Person (Councilor) 31360 NW Commercial St North Plains OR 97133 503-647-5555 robert_kindel@northplains.org 12/31/2016 X

North Plains Teri Lenahan CP - Council Person (Councilor) 31360 NW Commercial St North Plains OR 97133 503-647-5555 teri_lenahan@northplains.org 12/31/2016 X

North Plains Charlynn Newton CP - Council Person (Councilor) 31360 NW Commercial St North Plains OR 97133 503-647-5555 charlynn_newton@northplains.org 12/31/2016 X

North Plains William Snyder PC - Police Chief 31360 NW Commercial St North Plains OR 97133 503-647-2604 bills@northplains.org X

North Plains Glen Warren CP - Council Person (Councilor) 31360 NW Commercial St. North Plains OR 97133 503-647-5555 glen_warren@northplains.org 12/31/2014 X

North Plains Margaret Reh DCR - Deputy City Recorder 31360 NW Commercial St. North Plains OR 97133 503-647-5555 margaret@northplains.org X X

North Plains Rachael Lembo FD - Finance Director 31360 NW Commercial St. North Plains OR 97133 503-647-5555 Rachael@northplains.org

North Plains Debbie Brodie Library Director 31360 NW Commercial St. North Plains OR 97133 503-647-5555 dbrodie@wccls.org

10

10Local Focus Subscriptions Allowed:

Local Focus Subscriptions Receiving:

**Any Local Focus subscriptions over the allotted amount will be billed in January at a rate of $20.00 per year.

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 74 of 75

mailto:margaret@northplains.org
mailto:Rachael@northplains.org
mailto:dbrodie@wccls.org
mreh
Typewritten Text
Agenda Item No: 11A (Staff Reports)



January 2014 Council Calendar 
 
 

Meeting Primary Alternate Note Date 

City Council   7:00 p.m. at Jessie Mays 01/06 

Planning Commission Kindel  2nd Wednesday @ 7 p.m. 01/08 

Washington County Office of 
Community Development 
Policy Advisory Board 

  2nd Thursday @ 7 p.m. 01/09 

Washington County 
Coordinating Committee 
(WCCC) 

  2nd Monday @  12 noon 01/13 

Library Board 
 Demagalski  3rd Wednesday @ 7 p.m. 01/15 

William Stafford Centennial 
Event: St.Edward Parish Hall 

  
7:00 p.m. at St. Edward 
Parish Hall 

01/17 

North Plains Senior Center 
Crab and Steak Feed: Jessie 
Mays Community Hall 

  
3:00, 4:30 and 6:00 p.m. 
at Jessie Mays 
Community Hall 

01/18 

Martin Luther King Jr. Day: City Offices Closed  01/20 

City Council   7:00 p.m.at Jessie Mays 01/21 

Metro Policy Advisory 
Committee (MPAC) 

  4th Wednesday @ 5 p.m. 01/22 

Parks Board Hatcher  4th Wednesday @ 7 p.m. 01/22 

Playdate   
1:30-5:00 at Jessie Mays 
Community Hall 

01/26 

Metropolitan Area 
Communications Commission 
(MACC) 

    

Northwest Oregon Area 
Commission on Transportation 
(NWOACT) 

  No Meetings Scheduled  

 

__________________________________ 
NORTH PLAINS CITY COUNCIL PACKET 

Monday, December 16, 2013 
Packet Pagination: Page 75 of 75

mailto:p.m.@St
mreh
Typewritten Text
Agenda Item No: 12B


	4A 121613 Preliminary Agenda
	4A 120213 Minutes
	8A Memo surplus equipment
	8A Resolution Number 1809 Surplus Obsolete and Non-functioning Property
	8B Community Events expenses as of 121113
	8B Community Events Staff Time as of 121113
	8C November Check Register Auto Pay
	8C November Check Register Manual Checks
	9A Memo BBQ competition
	9Ac BBQ competitions 2013 PNWBA Schedule
	9Ac Participants
	9Ad PNWBA2
	9Af 2013 Cooks Rules
	9B Memo Progress on draft City Policies
	10A Memo NW Hillcrest St Vacation Ordinance No. xxx
	10A Staff Report SV-11-015
	10A Staff Report SV-11-015 Attachments
	10A Ordinance No. xxx street vacation
	10Aa Exhibit A Street Vacation Legal Description North
	10Aa Exhibit A Street Vacation Map Landscape North
	10Ab Exhibit B Street Vacation Legal Description South
	10Ab Exhibit B Street Vacation map landscape South
	10Ac Exhibit Map C CNP
	10Ad Exhibit Map D ODOT
	10Ae Exhibit Map E PGE
	11A 2013 Building Permits
	11A Joint Legislative Dinner & Session
	11A LOC List of Contacts
	12B Calendar January 2014



